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CHAPTER I
INTRODUCTION

The first movement of missionary expansion to take
place in Christendom efter the Middle Ages was that which
coincided with the discovery and exploration of the New
World at the end of the fifteenth century. At the ftime
when European monarchs and adventurers were finding new
worlds to conquer and gdd to thelr deminions, the church waa
alse finding new worlde. The Spanish church, as did ofhers,
sent missionaries to the Americas as soon 28 thers were
places to land them, both for the spiritual care of Span-
ierds and for the evangellzing of native peonles.

The importance of this misslonary work in the
Caribbean and in New Svoain (done by the religious orders
only) as the first such activity in the modern perlod, pre-
ceding even Xavier's travels in the Orient, 1s one reason
for which this thesis topiec was chosen. Although the work
in the territory which is now the United States dld not be-
gin until the end of the sixteenth century, it is in &
direct line with the work done early in the century. It
is of course also of particular interest as a part of the
history of the United States.

One other purpose, even more important, was to deter-

mine something of the attitude which was held by the Span-

1ards toward the Indians and toward slavery. The problem
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of the relationshlp between races is an especially important
one today, and 1t 1ls the intent of this study to determine
what the earliest mlssionarles of America may have con-
tributed %o 1lte understanding--znd to the improvement of
race relations in their day.

The period of Spanish Roman Catholic missions in what
i3 now the United 3tates extended from the sixteenth cen-
tury up until the mid-nineteenth. Since this is =z vast
area %o cover, the last period at least has been eliminated
(about 1750-1850) and three "samples” taken to give a cross-
gectlon of the work. The Florlds missions have been con-
gldered chiefly after 1573 when sustained work began, and
until the high polnt about 1675; included also 1s a brief
discussion of the decline toward the end of the seventeenth
century. The study of New Mexican misslions begins with the
first sustained work in 1598, and continues until 1680, the
year of the Pueblo Revolt. There is also a brief section
which considers the situation as i1t had developed by the
mid-elighteenth century. The California work was not begun
until 1769 and only the first period was considered, 1769-
1784, during which Jun{;ero Serra was Fr. Presidente of the
miesions. This should suffice to give a pleture of the
friars' work among the American Indians durlng the Spanlsh
era. For the purposes of this paper the above delimitation

seemed to be as narrow as was possible.
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Florida Missionsg: Sources

The most important collection of documents in existence
which relates to the history of Spenish America 1s undoubt-

edly the Archive CGenersl de Indias, located in Seville,

Spain., The originals of nearly all documents which relate
to Lmerica are deposited there. There asre also important
collections in other archives, 1in Spaln, in Havana, and in
Mexico City. Most of the scholarly works written concerning
this history are besed on these documents themselves or on
transcript and photostat collections (such as the Stetson
collection, the Lsnning ccllection, and the Florida State
Historical Society photostat colleetlon).

There are also such sources as the various collections
of unedited documents and & number of early hlstories,
written in the seventeenth and eighteenth centurles. One
of the most important of the latter for the history of
Florida is Don Andreas Gonzales Barcis's Ensayo Cronologice
para le Historie General de la Florida (first published in
1723), which could not be located. There 1s a translation
(University of Florida Press, 1951), but this was not lo-
cated elther.

The only primary source which was used was Lufg
Gerdnimo de Oré, The Martyrs of Florids, translated by
Maynard Geiger (New York: Joseph F. VWagner, 1936). Thils
wes first published about 1617-1620, shortly after Oré's
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visit to Florida on behalf of the Franeciscan Order. An

important source for the earliest perlod of Florlda history

is VWoodbury Lowery, The Spanish Settlements . . . 1562-1974

(New York: G. P, Putnam's Sons, 1905). This is a scholarly,
well-annotated work, with a useful index. For the period
in which the mlissions were bsgun and firmly established, a

useful source is Maynard Gelger, The Frasnciscan Conguest of

Florida (Waeshington:!: Catholic University of Ameriecsa, 1937).
There 1s 2 good bibliogranhlcal essay included. A fairly
well documenied general history of the Spanish mlssions is

John Tate Lenning, The Spenish Missions of Georgia (Chapel

H1ll: University of North Carolina Press, 1935). One of the
chief mlsgsion ereas in Spanish Florida was Guale, now the
Georgla coast, nerth of S5t. Augustine. The period of decline
le only briefly trested, but one good source for this era is
a collection of documents describing the end of the missions
in the Apaslache territory in VWest Flerida. Thils 1s M. s

Boyd, H. G, Smith, snd J. ¥W. Griffin, Here They Once Siced

(Gainesville: University of Florida Press, 1951). A valu-
able reference work, with statistieal appendices 1s Mgynard

Geiger, Blographiecsl Dictionary of the Frenciscans in
Spanish Florida snd Cuba (Paterson, New Jersey: St. Anthony

Gulld Pregs, 1940). For sn important work on the later
period of Florida history one could read Michael J. Curley,

Church and State in the Spanish Floridas (1783-1822)
(Waghington: Catholic University of America Prees, 1946) .
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New Mexleco Missions: Sources

There is an ebundance of msterial available on New
Mexlco's hilstory; everything ever written, done or said
geems to have been recorded. A greast deal of sifting and
searchlng is necessary, however, to find somethlng which
relates to one's subject. Beeldes the Seville archives Jjust
mentioned there 1g an important collsction of documents in

Mexico City, the Archivo General y Pidbligo de iiexice.

One of the most important collections of documents,
which relates to New Mexlco, as well ag to the rest of
Spanish Americs, 1s Pacheco and Cardenss, Colsccidn de

V4 Ay Ial
Documentos ineditoes, Relatives 2l Pescubrimisnte, Con-

aquista y Colonizacidn de les Posesiones Espancles (1864~

1884), forty~two volumes. Thiz is one of the most fre-
guently mentioned sources. Iwo of the limportant early
nistories relating to New Mexico (though not only New
¥exico) are Auguatin de Vetancurt, Chronics de la Frovingls
del Santo Evangelicc de Mexico (Mexico, 1697), and Juan de
Torguemada, Primers (gegunda, tercera) parte de los veinte
1 un libros ritusles y monarghia Indlane (Madrid, 1723},
thres volumes. These are mentioned beceuse of thelir im-
portance, though they wers not avallable.

The works found most velusble for this sectlon were
about five in number. An excellent bibliocgraphical study,

based on Joeé Toribio Medins's very complete work, and
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which gave conslderable information on many published works
relating to the Bpanish Bouthwest, is Henry R, Vagner, The

Spenish Bouthwest, 1542-1794 (Albuquerdque: The GQuivira

Socliety, 1937), volume VII of Quivira Scciety Fublications,
in two parts. For the early veriod of settlement in Hew
Mexico a good source is CGeorge F. Hammond, Don Juan de Onate
and the Founding of Hew Mexico (Santa Fe: El Palacio Press,
1927); this covers the period from about 1598-1610. It

is a brief work, yet very complete, with good notes and
documentation. The best work on the developments of the
first half of the seventeenth ecentury is France V, Scholes,

Church snd State in New Mexigo 1610-1650 (Albuguerque:

University of New Mexico Press, 1937). The same author has
published other works on the period up to the revolt of
1680, but this particuler one is sufficient to give a good
idea as to the causes and the nature of the church-state
clashes in New Mexlco during this time.

One of the most veluable of primary sources was that
edited by Frederick ¥. Hodge, G. P. Hammond, and Agapito

Rey, Fray Alonzo de Benavides' Revised Memorial of 1634

(Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press, 1945), a re-
port to Spailn and to Pope Urban VIII on the conditions 1n
New Mexico. The firat report, on which this ls based, was
written in 1630, and was widely published, in French, Duteh,
Latin, German, and English editions during the 1630's. The
other source which proved to be quite useful was that edited
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by Charleas ¥W. Hackett, Revolt of the Pueblo Indians of New

’
Mexico and Otermin's Attempted Reconquest 1680-1682

(Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press, 1942). These
two volumes contained a detailed account of the revolt, to-
gether with a collection of the imporftant records.

One ofther sourece, which gives a collection of documents
from the mlid-eighteenth century is the work of Fr. Franclsco
Atenaslo Dominguez, translated and edited by Elesanor B.

Adems end Fr. Angelico Chavez, The lMissiong of New Mexico,

1776 (Albuquerque: University of New Mexicec Press, 1956).
According to versonal correspondence with Frisr Chavez,
these works mentloned above are sufficlent to glve a good
plcture of the mission history of New Mexlco.
Concerning the work of Spanish missions in Texas, whilch
was not included in this thesis, there are two works which
would be iumportant. A4 primary source is Fray Juan Augnstfﬁ

Morfi (who dled in 1783), Hietory of Texas 1673-1779

(Albuquerque: The Quivira Society, 1935), and a comprehen-

sive modern study is Carles E. Castaneda, Our Cathollc

Heritage in Texas (seven volumes).
Californias Misslong: Sources

A great bulk of material, documents and transcripts, on
this history can be found in this country, as well as in the
Spanish and Mexiean archivea. The most important collections

are the Santa Barbara Mission Archives and the Bancroft
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collection at Berkeley. 2 relatively small portion of these
documents have been thoroughly worked through. Fray
Engelhardt glives & good survey of these avallable materilals,
and mentions alsoc records of sdministrative scts, records
and clirculars of the Franclscan Urder, and parish records of
the various missions.

There are two secondary histories of the California
missiong and settlements which zre quite thorough and gulte

helpful. One 1s Charles E, Chapman, A History of California’
The Spanish Perlod (New York: The Haemillan Co., 19730),

which gives a broader view and considers sl11 of the impor-
tant civil, pollitical, and mllitary aspects of the ecoloniza-
tion. Devoted mcre to the missions themselves ig Fray

Zephyrin Engelhardt, The Misslonsg and Missionaries of

California (Ssnta Barbera: Mission Santa Barbarza, 1930).
Thies massive work consigts of four volumes and covers the
entire era, from the period of Lower California missions to
the end of the mission period. Volume II deals with the
beginning of Upper Califdrnia work, from about 1769-1800.
The two chief vprimery sources used were the writings
of the men who were probably the most important in founding
California's missions. Fray Francisco Palou, Historieal
Memoirs of New California (Berkeley: University of California
Press, .1926), four volumes, 1s regarded by many as being
even today the best history of the early period in
Galifornia (1769-1785). Equally important is the’ collection
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of Fray Serra's letters, edlted by Antonine Tibesar, Mrit-

/
ings of Junipero Serra (Washlngton: Academy of American

Frenciscan Hlstory, 1955, 1956), three volumes. Most of
the letters are given in Speanish and English, on verse and
recto.

The miseion work in Arizona, Lower or Baja Californila,
and the provinces of northwest Mexico was not considered.
This work, done by the Jesults, was most extensive 1ln the
territory which is now lexico, and was rather limited in
United States territory. lHeowever, for a good picture of
this work, one could read the bilography of the man who was
probably most importaent, Fray Kino, written by a leading
authority on Spanish Americs, Herbert E. Bolton. The work

is Rim of Christendom: A Biography of Eusebio Franciscec Xino,

Pacific Coast Ploneer (New York: Maemillan Co., 1936).

There ere & number of terms which might be profitably
defined, and which occur frequently in thls study. Eome
geographical terms especlally need explanatlion. New Spain
generally refers to the area which today 1s Mexico (possibly
1nciud1ng Central America). Florida in most cases includes
the entire southeastern part of the present United States,
at least 2ll of the area which Spain claimed and explored.
Timucus was the central part of present-day Florida; Apalache
wag present-day western Florida, The Rio del Horte was the
old Spanish name for the northernmost part of the Rio Grande,

and was the area in which most of the New Mexico missions
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were lccoated. Californie during the Spanish ers referred
usuelly te Lower, or Baja California. Ihe medern state of
Californiea was then celled Monterey, or zometimes New
California.

Algo commonly found are terme connected with the
Spanigh settlemente. A presidio was 2 major military and
governmentel oulnost. A convent wes the residence of one
or mere friars. A doctrina was a preaching or teaching
station in Indian territory. A rancher{a wes a smell settle-
ment, farm, or group of dwellingg--sometimes Indian, some-
timee Spanish. An ggtufe was s meeting room, usuzslly under-
ground, or partly underground, in which pagan relilglous
geremonies were held; the term was used in New Mexico.

Lastly, there are several freguently-found titles. A
cacigue waes an Indian king or chief. A cébilﬁo seems 1o
have been a type of Town council. An alcalde was & mayor of
& Ttown or pueblo. An sdelsntado wes a commander-in-chlef of

an expedition end settlement in one of the Spanish provinces.



CHAPTIER II1

SPAIN IN AMERICA: THE PATRONATOQ

AND THE ENCOMIENDA

Spain's purpose in Amerlica as the sixteenth century
began 18 of course no complex matter. Vast new territories
were walting for her %o congquer and to inhabit; and vast
sources of wealth were welting for her to take, to add %o
the splendor of the Crown. The ruling power of Spaln was
iteelfl extremely interested in the potentisl of the Americas,
but possibly even more interested were the adventurers,
military officers, and noblemen who envisioned their own
kingdome and their own riches. This fundemental aspeet of
Spain in Amerilca is everywhere quite obvlous.

It is, however, not the whole picture. The Spanish
people were & religious people, and their filerce Catheliclsm
entered into practlecally every area of their life. This,
together with their equally strong independence (of which
the Popes very well knew), comprised the other chlef factor
which played such an important part in the Spanish colonial
enterprise. Thils seems to be a strange combination, a de-
gire for wealth and an expanded empire on one hand, and a
desire to be worthy of the title "Most Catholic," to under-
take everything in a manner which accorded with Christian

tehching, on the other hand. Nevertheless it is a fact that
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both of these factors are very much in evidence during the
period of conquest and colonlzation in the New World.

The thought had been suggested very early that perhaps
there wes something questionable in the practice of forcibly
occupylng a new land, end appropriating ites goods and
wealth, particularly when 1t was necessary to fight and
kill those who defended 1t. Of course, no one on this ac-
count felt that the New Yorld should be abandoned, but it

was a very general feeling in Spain that conguests should be

made in en honorable and Christian manner.
Part of the difficulty was taken care of by papal

grants., F. V, Scholes summarizes three most important bulls

and thelr concessions:

The bulls of Alexander VI, May 4, 1493, gave the Span-
ish monarchy (1) title over the Indies, with the con-
ditional obligation of carrying on the conversion of
the aboriginal population, and (2) all the concessions,
privileges, rights, etc. that former popes had con-
ceded to the kings of Portugal in lands discovered be-
yond the seas, of which the most important was the
right of presenting to ecclesiastical office. Eight
years later, November 16, 1501, the same pope granted
to the Crown the right to collect the tithes in the
American colonies with the condition that the Crown
ghould provide revenues for the establishment of
churches and missions. On July 28, 1508, Pope Jullus
conceded to the Crown universal patronage over the
Chureh in the Indies.l

lrpance V. Scholee, Church and State in New Mexico 1610-
1650 (Albuquerque; University of New Mexlco Preses, 1937), pp.
3f. Scholes continues: "On the basis of these concessions,
which were clarified by later papal decrees, the Crown esa-
tablished an unparalleled contrel over ecclesiastical organ-
i{zation in America. The tithes were collected by the of-
ficlals of the royal treasury and expended by them according
to Anstructions from the Crown.
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If the pope wes regarded by anyone as having a supreme

authority, such a grant would be sufficilent to Jjustify a
conquest of another land. But for Spein and Spaniards this
was lnsuffleclent, not only because many denied the pope's
temporal power, but elso on religiocus and moral grounda.z
It was very early in the cenftury when the controversy
was begun, chilefly by the sermons of a Dominicen friar on
the island of Hispanlola, lFray Antonlo de HMontesinos, in
1511.3 coon the storm which he had aroused emong his be-

rated parishioners spread to Spain, where a council was

The consent of civil authority was required for the estab-
lishment of every cathedrsl, pasrish church, monastic house,
hospital, and plous foundation in the Indles. Appointment
to 8ll sees and benefices was reserved to the king or hils
representatives. The establishment and delimitstion of
dioceses were made by royal suthority. The emigration of
clergy to the New World was controlled by royasl license, and
the movemente of those who went to the Indles were super-
vised by the clvil officers in the several provinces. The
meetings of provincial and diocesan counclls and the pub-
lication of their decrees were subjected to supervision by
the State. Fapal bulls and letters directed to the Church
in America were examined =nd certified by the Councll of the
Indies. It is not surprising, therefore, that these powers
were Jealously guarded, that the viceroys and leaser colonial
officlals were instructed to resist any encroachment on the
patronage, or that bishops were required to take an oath not
to violate the rights of the Crown under the patronage." His
source for thie materisl is a standard work in thls area,

F. J. Hernaez, Coleccion de bulag, breves, y ofroe dooumen-

tos relativos & ls iglesis de America y Filipinos (Brussels:
ReDs gy 16791,

ZMany Spaniards undoubtedly were content to continue
with the conquests as they had begun, but there very soon
was a wldespread interest in the matter on the part of the
Crown, the Spanish church, and the people.

3For the substance of Montesinos' sermon, see Appendix
A.
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appointed to study the meotter. 7The chief problem was the

treatment which the Indlans were receiving from the Span-
lards, but Montesinos opposed the very thecry of conquest
end enslavement. However, the only result of the meeting of
officlals and theologlans was a partiasl measure (partial at
least to Montesinos), the Laws of Burgos, December 27, 1512.
Many statements and directions were glven ss to the proper
treatment and kindness which should be accorded the Indians,

but the encomlenda system was upheld as being "“1n agreement

with divine and human 1aw.“4

The opposition to any kind of enslavement waa strong.
¥ontesinos wae soon superceded by his famed brother
Pominicen, Bartolomé de las Caseg, whose influence during
this time and in this situatlon, can hardly be estimated.
Not long after the Laws of Burgos Las Casas became, and for
half a century remained, the notable advocate of freedom
for the Indians of America.

For s time, however, the official pronouncements from
Spain continued to support the practical slavery which had
been begun almost as aéon z8 the Amerilican shores were

reached. The next important document was the regquerimiento,

k. :

Lewls Hanke, The Spanish Struggle for Justice in the
Conguest of America (Philedelphia: University of Pennsylvania
Press, 1949), pp. 23f. The engomiends was a system of vir-
tual slavery, whereby the Indians of a conquered area were
distributed amongst the landholding conguist , or

encomenderos, in perpetulty.

o
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or Requirement, of 151&. This was the curlous statement,
baged on the 014 Testament relationshlp between the Chosen
People and the heathen idolaters, which was to be read and

explained to the Indians before the Spanlards took posses-

slon.

The Requlrement was written by 2 member of an expedi-
. £ /
Tion %o the Indles, Martin Fernandez de Enciso {together
with another wrlter on the protlems of conguegt, Juan Lgﬁez

de Psalaclos Fublos), who held that

the king might very Justly send men to require those
ldolatrous Indlans te hand over their lespd to him, for
it was given him by the pope. If the Indians would
not do thls, he might Justly wage war against then,
klll them and enslave those ceptured in war, precieely
as Joshua treatsd the inhabitantas of the land of
Cenean.

According to the Requirement, the Indlans were to be required
to acknowledge the pope and the Crcocwn of Sozin as rulers and
guperiors and to allow the falth ¥o be preached amongst them.
If they should fall to do this, then the Spaniards would be
forced to punish and subjugate them.

We shall take you and your wives and your chlldren, and
ghall make glaves of them, and as such shall sell and
dispose of them zg their Highnesses may command; and

we shall take away your goods, and shall do all the
harm and damage that we can, as to vassals who do not
obey, and refuse to receive their lord, and resist and
contradict him; and we protest that the deaths and
losses which shell accrue from thls are your fault.

. . .« And thst we have said this to you and made thls

5Ib1d., p. 32; quoted by Hanke from Enciso memorial.
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Requirement, we request the notarg here present to
gilve us his testimony in writing.

One can easily imagine this oroclamation being read in
the Cestilien language to the unsuspecting Indians; and
Hanke understandably says that if 211 such proclamations

were described, it would surely "tax the reader's patience

and credulity,*®

for the Requirement was read to trees snd empty huts
when no Indlang were to be found. Captalns muttered
its theologlicel phrases into their beards on the edge
of sleeping Indian settlements, or even a league away
before starting the formal attack, and at times some
leather-lunged Spanish notary hurled 1ts sonorous
phrages after the Indians as they fled into the moun-
taing. Once 1t was read in camp before the soldiers %o
the beat of the drum. Ship captains would sometimes
have the document read from the deck as they approached
an island. . . . Sometimes Indian messengers were sent

to "require’ other Indians.’

It is also easy to understand why Las Casas, when he
learned of these things, eald that he did not know whether
to laugh or cry.

Las Casas not only believed in freedom of the Indians
from slavery, but he also held that there were rightful
lords, kings, and princee among these peoples, even 1f they
had never heard of Christ. It was simply natural law and

human justice that gave them the right to such dignity and

619;&.. p. 33; from the Requirement.
71pid., p. 3.
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sovereignty.a

With great persistence Les Casas =nd hig followers set
forth these views snd volced much opposition to the practices

of the cendguistadores, and not at all without effect. Hanke

gpeaks of four experiments which were permitted and supported
by the Crown, all of which were enactments of Lag Casas’®
princivles. One of these was to free enslaved Indisns in
certain nleaces and observe them to see if they could live
like Christians and Spaniards.9 Naturelly, in each case the
regult was fallure. The second was Lag Cases' own project
of colonizing the coast of Tierra Firme (Venezuela) with
farmers "who would till the soil, treat the Indlans kindly,
and thus lay the basis for an ldeal Christian community in
the New World." This experiment also failed, snd 1it¥ was
shortly after this that he entered the Dominican order. 10
The third experiment was also Las Casas' own; 1in 1537
he attempted to convert the Guatemala Indians by peaceful
meens alone, his method being based on his own treatlise of

the same year, The Only Method of Attrecting All People to

the True Falth. He said thet 1t was the devil who spread

the ideas that the Indians are to be "treated a8 dumb brutes

B3i1vio Zavala, New Viewpoints on the Spanish Coloniza-
tion of Americe (Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania
Press, 1943), p. 15. !

9Hanke, op. eit., p. 43.

1071p14., p. 5b.
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created for our service' and that they are "incapable of re-
ceiving the Catholic faith.%ll The work in Guatemala oroved
quite succesgful for a while, but after a perilod of conflict
between colonlsts and religious, the Indians revolied aznd
this venture ended.

Thet Las Casas' influence continued even after a number
of experiments had felled ieg clear from the lest of the ex-
periments. As Hanke says, on Hovember 20, 1542, Charles V
disregarded some of his mest important advigeras, and trusted
Las Casas, puttling into effect the Hew Laws of the Indies,

which in effect abolished the encomlenda system.

The audienclas were commanded "to enquire continually
into the excesses and 11l trestment which are or shall
be done to them by governors or private persons, and
hew the ordinances and insftruections which have been
given to them and are made for the geod tresatment of
the sald Indlans, have been observed." 1% was Turther
commanded "that henceforward, for no cause of war nor
any other ceuse whatsoever, though it be under title
of rebellion, nor by ransom ner in any other manner
can an Indlan be made a slave, and we desire that they
be treated as of the Crown of Casstile, since such they
are." Indians "who until now have been enslaved against
all reason and right," were tc be put at liberty.
Indians were not to carry loads unlesg absolutely nec-
essary and then only "in such 2 manner that ne risk of
life or health of the said Indians may ensue.®

The heart of the New Lawa was the provislon which removed

the ownership of Indians from all but those who held them by

lllbid., pp. 72f. This volume represents what was
probably the central doctrine in Las Casas' life work (onlg
three chapters of it are extant, but they run to 577 pages).
The other important works by him ere History of the Indles,
Brief Relation of the Destruction of the West Indles, and

Apologetic History.
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proper legal %tltle and were not guilty of mistreatment, and
which prohibited further grante of gncomienda after those
who had them had dled.l?

The opposition to the FHew Lawe was violent, in Peru and
in Mexico especially, and very scoon the Emperor was sub-
merged in protests. VYhat Hanke says was the most important
objection of 211 was that of many of the friars, from zll

the ordera,

Indeed, the provincizls of the Augustinians, Dominicans,

snd Franclscans made the long Jjourney from Mexico to

Spain to inform the King on "necessary remedies,” and

to demonstrate that the highest dlgnitarles of the mls-

glonery orders in closest contact with the Indians

were so0lidly behind the conguistadores.t
The Dominlcan provinclal from Mexleo, Fray Domingo de la
Cruz explained that the encomienda was necessary so that tThe
work of the friars would not be "interrupted by the depar-
ture of the Spaniards." He felt that if the Indians were
freed they would not work, and might even rebel, since they
no longer feared horees. Besldes this, the poor Spaniards

were supported by the encomendercs and would have no place

to go Af the New Laws were enforced. Other Dominicans ad-

vocated the medieval, feudalistic view of soclety as best

121p1a., pp. 91f.
131p14., p. 91.
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for Hew Speﬂm.ll-L

in a well-ordered commonwealth, it 1s necessary that
there be rich men who can resist the enemy and in order
that the poor of the earth may be able to live under
thelr guardleanship . . . if this land is %o perdure, it

is a great errcg fo think that all of 1€s inhabitants
ghall be equal,l5

The pressure was too great. In April 1546, at Ratisbon,
the Viceroy of Mexico was asked to carefully survey the needs

of 211 conguigtadoreg in Mexico and to make grants of In-

dians to them, Tairly and in sccord with these needs., With

this the encomienda was vermanently established in the Span-
ish colonies.

Las Cases continued to fight until his death, buf he
wes unsuccessful; his way had been tried and had proved un-
satisfactory to the general Spsnish interests. He had fought
with his people when he was bishop of Chiapa, and ended up
by excommunilcating them; he hed carried the fight to the
highest scademic level when he debated with Juan ¢1nds de
Sspélveda (1550-15581) and tried to show "that fLristotle's
dietum that some men were by nature slaves could not be ap-
plied to the Indiane." Vhile all this was golng on, though,

the Wew Laws were in essence revoked; and "Spanlards

141b1d., p. 98. It must be remembered that opposed to
this feudsllism there were meny advocetes of the regallst
viewpoint in Spain, who undoubtedly supported Las Casas.
These maintained that all Indians should Pe subjeot only to
the King and not to any underlords. See Zavala, op. cit.,
p. 73.

152ava1n, on. git., p. 71.




21
continued to hold Indlans and wage war against them, despilte
the fulminations of the Bighop of Chiaps. 16

These policles formed during the first helf of the
sixteenth century were to have a profound effect upon the
colcecnizaetion and miseion enterprises in the territories
which now are a part of the United States. The twe impor-
tant establlishments mentioned above and thelr effects can
be seen sgain and sgain throughout the hiatorj of the mis-
gslone and settlewents. The Patronstc Real or royal patron-
sge, was at the base, and acted as a catalyst of the church-
stete struggles which were such a continual plague to the
colonies, and in which the Indlians usually suffered the
most. The encomiends, in the areas which practlced 1t, was
usuzlly the excuse for much explolitation of the Indians.

A great deal could be said by way of introduction con-
cerning the firgt explorations in United States territories,
from the first in Florids by Ponce de Léon, by Ayllon, and
by Narvéez, to the travels of De Soto across the southeastern
quarter of the United States, and to the wenderings of
Coronado in the Southwest. On 2ll of these expeditions
there were members of the religlous orders accompanying the

conquistadores, who made the first contacts with the Amer-

tean Indians. The effects of many of these contacts was 1in

16Lewis Hanke, Barto;omé‘gg Las Casas: Bookman, Scholar
and Propegandigt (Philadelphla: Universlty of Pennsylvania

Press, 1952), p. 71.
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many cases ilmportant to the later colonization. However,
the purvose of this paper is toc consider the later pericd
and the actual establishment of permanent missions amongst
the Indians, as well 28 tThe nature of these missions, and

the resulting state of the native peoples.17

177w good references for the early period of explora-
ticn are Herbert E. Bolton, The Spanish Borderlands (MNew
Haven: Yale University Press, 19215, and Woodbury Lowery,
The Spanish Settlements within the Present Limits of the
United States 1513-1561 (New York and London: G. P. Putnam's
Song, The Knickerbocker Press, 1901). The first is a good
summary of all Spanish activity in the United States. 1%
ls written on a more popular level, but the author was a
leading authority in the field and the work 1s rellable.
The second is concerned with only the early perlod, but 1ls
more scholarly and seems to be a gtenderd reference for a

number of other writers. It has coplous notes end a very
ugeful index.




CHAPTER IIIX
THE FLORIDA MISSIONS

Farly Activity, About 1559-1570;

Dominicans and Jesuits

Although the gight of Florlds's sun-bathed white
beaches and green coastal follagse wes a plessant thing to
the eyes of OPpanish seamen, explorers, scldlers, and friars
as their shilps stood off at the distaence of & league or two,
the thought of the not-always-hospltable natives was not so
vlessent. As mentioned above, there were nsarly a half
dozen major exploraticne in the Florides during the first
half of the sixtesnth century, which had provided sufficient
cpportunity for the Spanisrds to acquaint themselves wilth
these Indlans., It will be seen, however, that the hestility
which the Spanish were met with was not always unrequited.

The religious who accompanied the various expeditions
usually had as one of their chief goals frlendly contacts
with the aborigines, and, as much as was possible on such
marches through the wilderness, to teach them something of
Christianity. Frequent skirmishes and even pitched battles
made this sll but impossible. The best that could be done
wag to add an oceasional Indlan to the expedition (peacefully
or by force) and teach him as they traveled.

During a colonization attempt 1in 1560 under the command
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of Tristan de Lunal contacte were made under more favorable

circumatances with the Coosa Indians (Coga), near the present

coast of Alabema. The Dominican friars Anunciscién and
Salazar were the religious on this expedition. It was de-
clded to walt for a more faverable situation, however, and
no real mission worg wag done. The fathers felt it was
"not the time."

The foundstions for Spanish mission work were finally
laid in 1565, when the first permenent settlement in this
country wee made, on the east coast of Florida, below the
Juncture of the peninsula with the mainland; this was St.
Auguatine.2

The key figure during this period of Spanish activity
in Florida was one Pedro Menéndez de Avilés, holder of the
King's patent for the establishment of & settlement in
Floride, and commander-in-chief of the entire axpedition.3
Recognized by most historiahs of this period as zn extremely
capable commander and brilllant strategist, Avilés was
chiefly responsible for the Spanish success in Florida, for

the esteblishment of £t. Augustine, and for making posslble

1hoodbury Lowery, The Spanish Settlements Within the
Pregent Limits of the Unl?ed State , 1513-1561 (New York:
8, 1901

G. P. Putnam's Sons, I, 351-380.
Zwoodbury Lowery, The Spanish Settlements ¥ jng
Present Limits of the United §§g§g§ 1562-1 New York:

G. P, Putnam's Sons, 1905), I1I, 158f.. 252,
31via., p. 120.
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the misslonary work which continued for nearly two cen-
turiee. This was also the man named by Philip II to com-
mand the Spanish Armada, and whose death in 1574 probably
contributed greatly to the disaster of 1588.

Before Spain could be secure in the Floridas, there
was one obstacle to overcome. This was France, alsoc active
during this same period, and in the same areas. From 1562-
1565 attempts were made by the French to found a permanent
settlement, under Coligny, Leudonnisre snd Ribaut. By 1565
there wse s successful Huguenot settlement, Fert Caroline,

a 11t%le more than twenty leagues from St. Augustine.
llelther French nor Spanish had sny intention of permitting
the other to remain, however, and scon only the Spanish wers
left.

The frequently-~told story of the major Svanish-French
clash begins at Ft. Caroline; from whlch place Jean Ribaut
took his troopa by shilp to attack 5t. Augustine, leaving the
women and children cclonists with an insignificant millitary
defense. Avilés socn received word of the departure of this
force. Apparently he wae convinced that a storm was ap-
proaching from the south which would keep Ribaut at sea, be-
cause he made a gquick, bold march overland te Ft. Caroline,
and destroyed the settlement, the defenders, and captured
the women and children (who were later freed). Simultane-
ously the storm materialized, driving Ribaut and his force

far north, and glving Aviles sufficient time to return to
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8t. Augustine and prepare for them. Finally the French
made a landing south of the Spanish setilement; the party
was met by Avilés, and easilly cavtured. Then followed the
magsacre of all but & handful of Frenchmen (who professed
to be Catholiecs). The place 1s called Maotanzag (slaughter)
to this day.” Following this eplsode, the Spanish were not
serlously challenged in Florida untll later French explora-
tions and the growth of the English cclonles.

With 5%. Augustine settled, and no Frenchmen to worry
about, the situation was more favorable for establishing
nissions among the Indians. 7This was actually the maln goal,
and the reason for all Spanish activity in Florida, at least
according to the roysl cedulas and according to the state-
ments of such men as Avilés. Netursally, the friars who ac-
companied all expeditions had thils =8 their goal. But with
all the obstacles erising during the establishment of a
colony and such obstacles as have been mentloned, no work
was actually begun until 1567.

It was during thils year that Francis Borgla sent the
first Jesults to Florida: Father Pedro Martinez, Father
Juan Rogel, and Brother Francisco Villareal. Among others

following then were Frays Segura, Alamo, Sedeno, and

41t was on this occasion that the familiar though un-
substantiated statement of Aviles was supposedly made: "I
do this not as to Frenchmen, but as to Lutherans.” Lowery
gives a well-documented socount of the Huguenot settlement.
Ibldo » ppo 3-210.
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Brothers Carrera, Linares, and Béez, who came in 1568; in
1570 came Freay Quiros, and BErothers Gémez and Zeballos.

Of these, Fray Martinez never reached 5t, Augustine.
His ship missed the harbor, asnd encountered storms which
gave & great deal of Trouble. 3pending some time azashore
with a party from the ship, the father wes killed by In-
dians. With thie, his previously-expressed desire for mar-
tyrdom was accomplished, with the very first group of Indians
he met.J

It was near the southern extremity of the Florida penin-
sule that the first misslions were undertaken by these Jesults.
Fray Rogel begen work among the Celoosas, on the southwest
gsection of the peninsuls, where he met with little success.
Because of his difficulty with the language an interpreter
was necessary for preaching and instructing in the chief
articles of the Christisn religion. Lowery says that in-

struction

probably consisted in teaching them %o recite the
Pater Noster, the Ave Marias, the Credoc, the Salve, and
the Commandments. Together with this the attempt was
made to inculeate into their sagage hearts the first
princivles of Christian morals.

%

5Lowery gives the words of Martinez as a ,Spanish writer
on distinguished Jesuits has them: "Fr. Martigez .« o o BEe
claimed one day to Fray Lobo, a distinguilshed Franclscan,
'Oh! Father Lobo, hew I long %o pour out my blood at the
hands of the savages, and wash those Florida shores in de-
fence of the faith!'" Ibid., p. 270. In practically all
writings on the Spanish misslons these expressed longings
for martyrdom on the part of the religlous recur.

é1bia., p. 339.
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The language barrier being such a problem, particularly with
go many Indlan tongues spoken throughout the country, it was
gimplest for the friares to teach such prayers and creeds,
which could be memorized; to teach by dizlog, or questions
and answers would have been more difficult.

Another approach which was commonly used in the Spanish
miesions is described by Lowery:

He [Fr. Rogel] succeeded in gathering about him a

great number of the children on whom he hoped to make

some lmpression, using every effort to attract them,

and distributing among them for a time the corn-mesl

which Fr. Francisco de Toral, the Franciscan Bishop of

Yucatan, had sent him, when he learned of his mission-

ary labore. But "the children who assembled to chant

the doctrine recited only the call of hunger," and

theilr interest ceased when the corn-meal became ex-
hausted.”

Fray Rogel's success was no better with the adults, who
seemed to be looking for an excuge to kill him. In a quar-
rel with an Indian leader over 2 matter of 1dols, an occasion
arose. As was nearly slways the case in Spanlish misslons,
there was present with the father a number of soldiers, for
protection. This kept the incldent from proceeding any
farther.

Brother Villereal st this time was working in another
area, with the Tegesta Indlans, near the present Miami, and
finding less oppoeition.

At Tegesta Brother Villareal found the nativea far
more docile. He made much progress with thelr language,

7Ibid.

Ssrecnmer—
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confirmed meny of the adults in the faith, baptiased
gome of the chlldren and even a few of the older peo-
ple, emong others an old chlieftainess on the point of

death. Large crosses were slso erectgd, around which
the natives gethered for instruction.

The work here seemed gcod only by comparison, though, since
even at Tegesta the older converts soon lost interest snd
fell back to thelr o0ld religion.,

Work continued in these places for several years, but
the intractabllity and deceit of the Indiane, coupled with

the gconguistadore approach of the Spaniards,; permltted no

veaceful) settlement or mission work gt this time. Lowery

glves a good ploture of the situation!

The settlement at Ban Antonio was likewise doomed, The
erafty Don Felipe hed easily imposed upon the mission-
aries, whom he allowed %o destroy his venerated ldols,
while he showed s ready compliance with thelir teaching.
But (cept.) Reynoso wes not so easily decelved, and,
another plot being soon discovered, Don Fellipe and
fourteen of the chlef accomplices were,all put to

death by order of Pedro lMenendez Marques. The execu-
tion of so many of their principal men struck a final
blow at any further understanding between the Spaniards
end the Calecosas. The Indians suddenly rose, burned
their villsge, and fled to the forest. The Spaniards,
whe hed largely depended upon the natives for their
subsiatence, now found themselves utterly helpless;

the attempt to meintain the settlement was finally
absndoned, the mission was withdrawn, the fori de- 9
stroyed, and the garrison trsnsferred to St. Augustine.

In 1569 Fray Rogel went to work at Santa Elena, located

on the coast of present-day Scuth Carolina; his immediate

8Ibid., p. 340, Other sources zay that there were no
baptiems except for the old woman. Nevertheless the work
here wag less difficult.

91bid., p. 3U6.
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area of labor was a place called Orista. After slx months
he had learned enough of the language %o converse and also
preach. He began his instruction by teaching these Indians

the unlty of God, His power and Majesty; that He was
the Cause and Crestor of all things; His love of the
good; Hls horror of evil . . . the rewards =and punish-
ment of the nex% 1ife, the immortality of the soul,
and the resurrsction of the desd,l0

Here Fray Rogel found the natives "far mors ftractable

and moral" than the Caloocsas.ll

After three months spent at Orista he enthusiastically
exclaims that "their manner of living was 8o well or-
dered and regulated Sthat there was not a single thing
to touch or to change among them even 1f thay become
Christians." Zach Indian had but one wife, worked hard
at hils planting, and the children were carefully
tralned. They were neither cruel nor thisvigh, and
unnabturel crimes were entirely unknewn. They were
great traders, expert at osrter, carrying thelr mer-
chandigee into the interlior . . . the affairs of the
tribe were ordered. The Indians were truthful, dwelt
neaceably among themselves, and were glven to but one
vice,~--they were great gamblers.

This would seem to be the ideal place for the frlars fo do
migssion work. It was not long, however, before thelr
opinion changed. There was some attention paid the father's
instructions, some questions asked, but he seems not to

have been taken too seriously. Lowery characterizes thelr
attitude as "a constantly growing spirit of mockery." Fray

Rogel taught them sbout hell, and said "that I have seen

1°Ib1d., p. 348, Lowery quotes & letter from Rogel to

a Fray Ainestrosa, dated December, 1569.
lllbig., pp. 3L8F.
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them shed tears at the terrors of hell, when they were told
thet thelr souls would burn in hell like s firebraend if they
did not dle Christians."!2 But even this had no lasting
effect.

One important factor which greatly hindered this work,
perhans wore seriocusly in Florida than in other mlission
areas, was fthe continual moving of the Indians, usually 1ﬁ
search of food, or better lands. In the case of the
Guales, 1t seems to have been seasonal moving, but in many
other places a village would be left{ onermanently, &t any
time, and the tribe would settle somewhere else.13 During.
the absence, undoubtedly most of what the fathers sald wvas
forgotten, or its impact lost, if there had been any in the
first place.

At any rate, Fray Rogel had led them to the bellief in
the Trinity, and an understanding of the Homan Catholic
veneration of the Cross, after eight months of labor. By
this time he felt that he had the Indians' good will and
love, so he said,

I began to declare to them how, in order to be the
gons of God, it was needful for them to be enemles of

121114, , 0. 350, quoting a letter from Rogel to
Hinestrosa.

13por this reason it is extremely difficult to estab-
1ish the exact location of many of these missions, which
would often follow the tribes. As & result, names have
been given to certaln places, moved with the population,
then perhaps remained in another place. Thus names of mis-
gion areas are usually very general.
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the devil, for the devil is evil, and loves sall evil
things; and God 1s good and loves all good things.
« « .« When I began to treat of this . . . so great
was the vexation and hatred which thsey conceived at my
worda, that never again would they come tec listen to
me; and they sald to my people that they were very

engry and dld not belleva 6 thing I sald, since I
spoke 111 of the devil.l

The general conclusion of hilstorians and ethnologists is
that Fray Rogel was a victim of his imperfect understamding
of the lenguage of Orista. Els mistske was very serious
though, and further demaged the already strained relatlon-
ship.

With these reavltis occurring in nearly every mlssion
aree, the Jesuit work was nearly over in Florida. The fact
has also been mentloned that the religious and the soldiers
at the outlying miscsione were largely dependent on the In-
diang for sustenance, and when these grew less friendly and
in some cases menacing, there was obviously nothing to do
but withdraw. There may have been a little in the way of
supplies coming from the presidic 2t St. Augustine,.but this
would have been insignificant. It was to be many years be-
fore even this town waes self-supporting, and at the early
date of 1570 oractically all food and supplies were shipped
in. This year marked one of the lowest points in the history
of Spanish Floride, as soldlers, friars, civilians were left

nearly destltute, without foed, clething or eguipment. This

1by3chael Kenny, Romance of the Floridas (New York:
Bruce Publishing Co., 1934), p. 253.
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year marked the abandonment of Florlda except for 150

soldiers et S5t. Augustine (left with food and ammunition
for only a few montha).

The Jesuits made one more attempt, however, a move
which was planned even when Guale and Florlida outpostis were
being abandoned. The new enterprise was toc be among the
people of Jacan (or Axecen); this was almost certainly the
Cheaspeake Bay &area.

Eight Jeguits prepared to go ashore here, and perhaps
with more hope fthan some-of them had when they started out
in Florida & few years before, becsusge with them was an
Indlan, Don Luis, who had been taken from this very procvince
in 1552 by the Dominicans to Spain. He seems to have been
intelligent and agreeable, and had "ingrstiated himself to
guch an extent into the good-will of Philip II" that he had
been suppoerted by the king during his stsy in Spalin. Hils
eleven yesrs with the Spaniards, receiving an educatien,
and his living in the company of the religlous all served
to fit him to serve the mission as interpreter and as a
1ink with the Indians of this province, his own people.

For a while this is what heppened, but very soon Don
Luis left the mission and would not return. Either his
tribe's entreaties to return to the old ways were too great
for him to resist, or else he had harbored resentment
ageinet the Spanish since his kidnaping. In any case, his
action was the first step in events that led to the killing
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of all the missionaries before they had worked five months.
Ihe followlng year a ship returned, to see how the mis-
slon was progressing. The only survivor, a boy named Alonso
de Lora, told what had happened. The Spanish did their
best 1o persuade several Indians %to Turn Don Luls over to
them but with no succesa. A nuaber of captured Indians
were put to death, says Oré, though not before they were
asked 1f they wanted to dle as Christlans; this they will-
ingly accepved. "A religious [Fr. Rogei} instructed them
and exhorted them as was fitting. Then they were hung from
the yardarme.”l5 Thig ended Jesult work in the Floridas.
Ferhaps The only saccomplishment worth mentionlng was a
school for Indian boys from Florida, established in 1568 in
Havana, under Fray Rogel and Brother Villarea1.16 Even the
~ greumars of the Timucuan and Tegestean languages, and the
catechisn, written in verse, by Brother Domingo Agustfn Béez
were lost, and 1t wes not untll Fray Pareja's work fifty
years later that such material was avallable. As for con-
verivs, Fray Uré seys that no one was seen fit to bg bap-
tized during the Jesults' tenure, though a few were being

taught, Gelger says that there were a total of seven

15Lu£e Gerénimo de Oré, The Martyrs of Fleorida, trans-
lated by Maynerd Geiger (New York: Joseph F. Wagner, Inc.,
1936), p. 30.

16J’ohn Tate Lanning, The Spanigh Missions of Georgia
(Chapel Hill: The University of North Carolina Press, 1935},
p. 43.
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baptisms durlng this perlod, in Guale; four of them were in-

fants, and the others at the point of death.l? Next came

the Franclscans.
The Farly Franciscan Perioed: 1573-1610

fs Maynard Gelger notes, the activities of the Urder of
Frizrs ¥inor were extremely limited at first, from the ar-
rival of a few &t Santa Flena in 1573 until about 1595,
when the number of friars had increased and conversions were
being receorded in most parte of Spanish-occupled Florida.
These first ones, incidentally, were sent from Zpain through
the efforts of Avilés to replace the religious who had Just
recently left.

By 1578 there were only two friars working in the whole
territory, end these were servingiaa chaplalns at the forts,
3t. Augustine and Santa Elena. There wss conslderably more
progress mede during the next ten years, however; in 1583 a
concerted miseion effort wes begun, and according to a re-
port of the Province of the Holy Crosgs of Santa E;ggg, there
were seven convents which had been established by 1587 in
Florida: the Convents of the Immaculate Conception, 5%.
Augustine; St. Catherine, Cuele, Georgla; 3t. Peter, Cumber-
land Island, Georgla; St. Bonaventure, Guadelquini, Georgla;

’

1Tyayry ranolsean Conquest of Florida
aynerd Geiger, The Francliscan Conquest ol

(¥ashington: Catholic University of America, 1937), p. 20,
note 6. Hereafter thie work will be referred to as Fran-

ciscan Conguest.
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5t, Domlnic, Asao, Georgla; St. Anthony, Aguasdulce, Florids;
and 5%. Ann, Potano, Florida. Thie was nearly one-third of
the Franclscan province of Santae Elena, the other fifteen
convents belng located on the iglands of Santo Domingo,
Cuba, Puerto Rico, and on the South American mainland in
Venezuela.18 Yorking in these oplaces were a totael of at
least eleven friars.

It 1s difficult to establish clearly what the actual
results were of the Franciscans' work during this period,
ag far as the Indlians' attitude toward Romen Catholic Chris-
tisnity 1s concerned, but Ceiger says that by 1595 there
were about 1400 to 1500 Christianized Indians throughout the
area (instructed, professing and beptized). Hany friars had
come and gone, with only Frayse Lopez, Corpa and a2 lay brother
remaining on continual service from 1587 on. Fray Relnoso
wae connected with the Florids missions continuelly but he
spent most of his time traveling to, from, and in Spalin, re-
cruiting men to evangelize Florida's Indians.

Father Oré tells of the change in attitude which took
place 1in man} areas of mission work during this perlod.
¥hilé Reinoso and the others worked there were some Chris-

tians, but always a minority.

leﬁaynard Geiger, Biogravhigal Dictionary of the Fran-

ciscans in Spanish Florida and Cuba, No. 21 of Frano;ﬁg?g
Studies (Paterson, N. J.: St. Anthony Guild Press, 1940),

p. 119. Hereafter this work will be referred %o as Fran-
_ciscan Dictionary.
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These 1infidels nersecuted the Christian Indians and
held them as outcasts among them, offering them a
thousand injurious affronts, which they suffered and
which were turned into preclous pearls for them. This
persecution lasted twenty years. During this same
period there were always Indian ambuascades about the
town, for when a soldier carelessly went out for woed,
or to flsh or hunt, or for some other reason, the
Indians immediately killed him.

But after yeares of patlient work there came a2 change!

=

God wished, however, that this difficult situation be
gradually etraightened out and be changed to the de-
sirable state of affalrs thet now obtains, namely that
the Indisns consider 1t an honor tc be Christians; they
even persecute those who are not and offer them affronts
in such a manner that we religious find 1% necessary %o
become the defenders and protectors of tThe Hanopiras.
The change from & minority to 2 mejority of Christians was
of course only in those limited aress or towng in which work
wee being done, but it nevertheless was a change, and in-
dicates gqulte a change when compared with the Jesult period.
In all, by 1596 there was a friary at S5t. Augustilne,
and ten Indisn miesions, located at Nombre de Dios {(near 5t.
Augustine); at Saen Juan de Puerto (mouth of St. John's
River, Florlida); San Pedro, Cumberland Island, Georglsa;
Tolomato, Georgla; St. Catherine Islend, Guale; Tupiqui,
Georgia; Ospo, Georgla; Asac, Georgla; Ibi (a new mission),
Georgia or Florida; and Timucua {central Florlda, about

fifty leagues inland). 29 By 1597 there were fourteen friars

190ré, op., eit., p. 43. Hanopiras meant “painted ones,"
heathen.

2°Geiger, Francisean Dictionary, p. 120.
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in theese placses,

Thls year also marked e serious setback, though a tem-
porary one. In all of the Spanish missions among American
Indiansg (as in the work of most other groups elsewhere)
there existed the continuous threat of reveolt. The posi-
tion of the misslonaries never was secure or without the
danger that the Indians being instructed and evangelized
would become tired of the friarsg' interference and dis-
turbance of the old weay of 1life. Although thelr resentment
was not by any means unjustified on many occasions, 1t must
be emphasized that they were very often unpredlctable in
their own right.

The setbeck was the Guale revolt of 1597. As a result
of this uprising five of the ten above mentioned missions
were abandoned, those on the Georgias coast (Guale), as well
ag the one newly established at Ibi. The only Guale mis-
gion and fort that held out was that on Cumberland Island,
San Pedro.

Frays Blas Rodriguez, Aufion, and Badajoz were the first
killed, the last two on the island of Guale. Fray Corpa had
been warned of the uprising by a cacique of Guale, but paid
no attention, and wae found dead when = party from S5t.
Augustine reached the area of vevolt. Apparently one of the
first to arrive, before the military party, was Fray Veras-
cola, who was returning to his station from the oresidlo;
he, too, wae killed by his rebelllous converts.
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An indication of the feeling, the hatred which the
Guales had for the friars' religion, and for the religious
themselves, can be seen in the capture and torture of Fray
Avila. Avila ves wounded several times when his misgsion
was attacked, but menaged to escape for a short time; when
he was dlscovered, unconsclous, by the Indlans, he wes taken
captive. During his captivity he was vietim of numerous
beatings and wae slwaye mev with great mockery wherever he
was taken. Many records tell of his belng tlied to a cross,
and forced toc watch 2 moeck mass, of hils brave refusal of
marriege, of his resiastance to Indian lawas, and especlally
of hie miraculous healing. Although he had recelved many
wounds from arrows and from cther wespons, it is reported
that he was healed with no medical treatment of any kind.
How much of this abuse wes due to = natursl barbarism is
difficult to esy, but 1t 18 2t least plain that these Guales
had 11ttlse affection for the likes of Fray fvila.

There was no desire on the nart of the rebellious In-
dlans to press the matter any further vhen the Spanish be-
gan meking reprisals. At first several Indlan towns were
burned. Then the soldiers returned to St. Augustine with
the remaining friars. After several years of losing crops
to Spanlsh torches, the Guales sued for peace; they were
hungry. The surrender seems to have been impossible, how-
ever, untll after the rebel ieadsr, one Juanillo, had been

killed by some of hie fellows. In the meantime, already 1n
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1598, the friare had gone back to theilr posts, working in
what must have been a vrecarious siltuation.

There seem to have been several important causesz of
this Guale revolt of 1597. It 1a difficult to say how much
the particular temperament or inclination of the Guales had
to do with 1t (there was an earlier revolt amongst these
same people during the period 1570-1580), but the investi-
gation which followsd seemed to show a direct relationship
between the friars' methods or miselonary approcach and the
revolt.

Probably one of the greatest obstaclesz to the religious’
efforts and %o the Indiana' acceptance of Christlian tsaching
was the friara'!' disciplinary approach. Apparently ons of
the first steps toward converting these people was to per-
gunde them to change their ways of living, varticularly to
shandeon such practices sg polygamy. This game outl garly in
the investigation.

Varioug Indians who testifled =t the trial held at 3%.

Augustine in 1598 stated that the friars specifically

commanded the Indiane to live with but one wife. Thetl

the religious died because they upheld the Christian
law cf monogany 18 elear. . . . Although the Indians

did not martyr the friars for the faith, it is certaln

that they martyred them becsuse of the law of Ged which

the religious taught them.2
Although it seems unlikely that the Indians' attitude even

in the space of fifteen years would change g0 completely, a

2l9pé, op. elt., p. 83, note L3,
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report of the Custody of the Order indicates that regarding

this problem of polygamy, the attitude of the former rebels
had changed and that the problem was solved.

This 1s the reason they gave and which they attest to
todey, since they reelize their sin. . . . It is
known in this land that since the death of these holy
religious this people has become doecile and mild-

mennered attaining the point (of subjection) they show
today.22

Rether than point with such emphasis to the oproblem of
oolygamy, however, 1t seenms more logical to regard the dis-
ciplinary approach of the friarse as a whole as being a prime
cauge for the revolt. Father ﬁvila's treatment during his

captivity shows more of his converts' feeling toward him and

his teachlng.

Great was the persecution he sustained at the hands of
the boys who many times came short of killing or hanging
him in view of the fact that when the religious had
taught them Christian doctrine and reading, he had
gometimes struck them.23

"At the trial held at St. Augustine the Indians testifiled
that Fr. ﬁvila wag the butt of ridicule at the hands of the
Indian boya.“zu

The cacigque convoked all the boys and women, saylng to
them: Come kies the hand of your father; recelive his
blessing. Since we had taught them this good custom
and mark of good breeding, the cacigue commanded that

221p14., from "The Definitors of the Custody of Santa
Elena to the King," October 16, 1612.

231p14d., p. 77.
2uIbld., p. 96, note 6.
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they practice this custom on me in mockery.25
Examplee of this disciplinary method of conversion can
be found in many places. The following is from the Jesuilt

veriod but in most respects it is typicel of the Franciscans

ag well.

The BSpaniards had been settled for a year at San
Antonio when 1t was discovered that Carlos was plot-
ting thelr death, and, thelr patlence being exhausted,
hs was killed to mekxe place fer his suecessor, Don
Felipe. The new chieftain showed himself so friendly
to the Spanlards that hopes were entertained that on
the return of Aviles he and hils famlly would submit to
beptism snd that he would carry the entire tribe with
him, But agaln Father Rogel came into conflict with
rooted custom, which put his teachings at deflance.
Don Felipe wighed to marry his sister, and when the
Father sought to impress upon him the enormity of such
a s8in committed on the very verge of hie baptism, the
Indian coldly revlied that when he should be baptised
he would repudiate his sister, but that 1n the mean-
time he was compelled to conform to the customs of hls
country, the laws of which not only countenanced such
a marriage, but even considered it necessary.26

Other practices of the Indians which were prohibited by the
friers were such things as sorcery, unsanitery dlets, and
warllike dances.

There ie one other metter which must be mentioned, very

important in connection with the revolt, and of great

251p1a., p. 87.

26Lowery, op. eit., pp. 340f. It seems that the need
for dlecivlinary measures was regarded as an integral part
of tesching Christianity. Lowery tells of Fray Rogel living
at Orista with three boys as companions, “one of them was a
1ittle boy named Juan, of so sweet and obedlent a disposl-
tion that the Father was at a loss to find an occaslion %o
whip him 'in order that he should not forget the wholesome
fear of the discipline.'® Ibid., ». 348.
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consequence throughout the period of mission work and coloni-

zation, both in Florida and in the other areas of Spanish

America. This was the conflict between the friars and the

civil governors and officlals. (As mentioned before the

gource of thie problem was largely the patronate real.) In

connection with the Guale trouble there came into preminence
g number of accusationg made by the frisrs against the
governors, and by the governors agsainst the friers; the in-
vestigetions eand trlals especiszlly brought these out.

Governor Canzo wrote to Spaln seying that the friars
interfered in politics, in caclique-meking, and the like.
Lanning saye that a contributing cause of the revolt was
possibly the removal of Don Juan (Juanillo) from the exer-
cise of his office of cacique because of his unchristian
11v1ng.27 Since discipline wae such an important factor in
the religious' approach, it would seem that all possible
measures would be used by them, even "king-making."

The friars on the other hand complalned that Governor
Canzo mede war without provocation, lmprisoned and fettered
Indilen cacilques and delegates who came to him, that he
scandalized the Indians with tales about the friars, and
perhaps more lmportant, that the governor only could dis-
cipline the Indians, and not even the gacliques were permitied

to do this. For a time it was also complained that the

27Geiger, Franciscan Conguest, p. 105.
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Christlian Indians received no discipiine at ell. And so the
fight continued, with very few periods of harmony.

The only direct results of the investigation and triasl
at 5t. Augustine were some discipnlinary measures sgainat
the Indians, as the hanging of one named Lucas, znd lesser
messgures sgalnst others, Asgs far as the friers! controversy
with the government was concerned, letters were sent, loud
complaints were made, the superiors of both the religious
and the civil eoffleials heard about the sgituation and made
thelr statements, and possibly minor modiflcations were made
in the colonlal eatablishment. But the conditions which
followed were very much the same as before. Iwo powerful
armg, of the Church and of the State, with a hazy line of
power division were too large a problem for a small Indian
revolt, with & trial and investigation, to gettle. Through-
out the period of Spanish occupatlion in Amerlca 1t was

never settled.
The period sfter the revelt

Pedro de Ybarra, governor of Florida from 1603 to 1609,
was one of the many in that position who normslly were found
in opposition to the friars, for one reason or another. But
on one occasion, in 1605, he took a position which was more
on their side than against them. This wae in objection to a
proposition of the king, Philip III, that the Florlda eolony

be sbandoned.



b5
To the Spanlsh kingse throughout the period of coloniza-

tion the problem which undoubtedly wase always in the fore-

front was the unproductiveness of the Floride settlements,
especlally as compared with those in New Spain and in South
America. The treasury of Spaln, as well =28 those of England
and France, could testify to the wesalth which came from the
latter places, but 1t was continually spending money Jjust to
keep the Florida colonles going, and the c¢civilian, military,
and religious subjects alive. Part of the problem was the
disetaste which the Spaniards in Floride had for any great
amount of agricultural devéiopment. From across the
Atlantic came many recommendations and directions that more
work be done to make the Florida settlements self-sustain-
ing as least as far ag food and clothing were concerned.

The only answers which such directives got, however, were
requests for more supplies. The chief problem was that
Floride simply was not rich and productive, as were the

rest of Spain's possessions in the New World.

Whatever Governor Ybarra's motives or reasons may have
been, he opposed Philip III's proposition, and fought to keep
the settlement in Florida going and the friars at their mis-
sion work. He had done a great deal to settle and pacify
the colony, and seemed concerned for the Indians there, fre-
quently becoming involved in setiling disputes among them.
Finally, his efforts to convince the king were successful,

and the development of Florids continued. This may have
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been helped by the thought of the falrly recent struggle
with France in Americe and also by the rapidly-increasing
power of England just about everywhere. It must not be sup-
vosged, however, that Philip III wes not greatly concerned
with the Church's miseion work; throughout the period of
Spanish missions there were many occcasions on which the
frisrs could (and did) receilve help only from the king him-
self when certain governors were especially oppressive.

During thle controversy the friars themselves were
naturally very much opposed to abandoning the Florida settle-
ments end missions. Thles was especially true since they had
Just weathered an uprising, and, as will be seen below, were
again making some progress, Sfrongly opposed by these re-
ligious were the royal suggestions that the Christian In-
dians be removed to Espahola.28

Also during thie period there continued the difficulties
between the friars and the governors. Though Ybarra fought
to enable the mlssionaries to remsin at their work, he did
not refrain from making complaints about their usurping
civil authority in the missions. Possibly some added sub-
stance 1s glven to his statements by another velce, which
came out in agreement with Ybarra, and from a churchman. In
1606 Bighop Cabazas de Altamirano made the first eplscopal

vielt to the Florida missions, and after seeing the situation

281p14., pp. 208-213.
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there, aleo sald that the friare were usurping civil author-
1ty in their mission discipline. But the bishop went far-
ther, and made a statement which indicates that part of the
oroblem of Ybarra and his settlements, and a problem of the
missions as well, was the presence of a number of friars who
were lacking in character or in sul%ability for their work.
The labors and hardehlps of the fathers in thelr
oarishes are indeed very great; and it is much to their
credit to have produced the fruits that I have seen in
geveral of their charges here. Beyond a doubt they
eat thelr bread in sorrow in these places. DBut all
thies ies tarnished by the superiors of the Order sending
to these places religious who are young, hot-tempered
and not hardened to toil. These instead of serving
your Majesty and obliging us all to invoke a blessing

- upon the othere, rather prevent us by their neglect of
duty from seeing the thinge that are good.

The religlous sulted to these provinces are those who
have reasched the age of forty, and are humble rather
than learned--those who have been brought up in Span-
ish goodness and pilety, trained in the austerities of
thelr institute, and have, to use the expression com-
mon in the Orders, trampled worldly wealth under
foot. . . .29
Altemirano continues, opposing the sending of young religlous
from Spain or New Spain (who are often too hardened, too
coarse, and vulgar); these were too easlily dissatisfied 1n
Florida.
Such men being the church's end Christianity's repre-
gsentatives to the heathen Indians (end Christian Indians),
would certainly do the work very little good, and could

easily be regerded as a contributing factor to the

291pyd., p. 203.
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difficulties which kept arlsing between the government znd
the religious. Following Altamirano's visit, Ybarra brought
e. Fray Carranco from Cuba to help control the friers. This
and other mezsures must have been succeseful, for in e let-
ter of liay 5, 1609 Ybarra writes sbout the new, neaceful re-
lations. 39

fg far ae the conditions in the misgions and among the
Christians were themselves concerned, the problems of polyg-
amy and exchanging of wives continued as before, despite
Oré's conviction that Divine Providerice intervened to set-
tle the chaotic marital situation which the fathers found

after their period of separation.

the religicus were not able to remedy the situation,
for it was grave and onerous. They became discouraged.
Then they turned to God in prayer beseeching Him %o
remedy the affalr. He favored them, so that He grad-
ually brought them back and on Hisg part evened out the
difficulty, taking eome out of this world to the other.
Thus the nartners became free of_ their former alliance
and were able to contract snew,3l

The Indiens were also kept subject to the Spanlish or-
der, and years passed before any more serious uprislngs took
place, but this was not due to any change in poliecy as far
as the missionaries were concerned. After their return fo
the mission stations they lmmedistely took steps to return

the communities to a moral way of 1ife, in one case beglnning

301paa., ». 220.
l1pia., p. 22,
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with the caclgue, who was now married to his sister-in-law,

Teke them (cecigue's children) %o our house and there

we shall take care of them for you in exchange for your

furning from sin. . . . You have not desired to leave
off s8in nor to take the =2dvice we have given you. It
would be better 1f you had never been a Christisn, be-
cauge 1in hell, beilng pagan, you would not have to en-
dure so many peinsg and torments as you will have to en-
dure, being a Christian. But I tell you in the name of

God, that if you do not repent, I shall have to bury

you or this woman within thirty days.32
Geiger then continues and saye, "Accordlng to the narrative,
the cacique's sister-in-lew dled with twenty daye. . . .*
The cacique then admitted guilt and was punished, and warned
others wlth success. How reliable these accounts of the
frisrs' wielding of God's wrath and punisghment actually eare
it is imnossible to say, but at least there is ample evi-
dence that thelr attitude and mission methods continued as
before. It will be seen that throughout the following yeers
their aim remained the same: Indian submission--to the
church, to salvation, and to Spaln.

A good indication of the redevelopment of the Florida
mission areazs following the 1597 revolt can be had by com-
paring the number of areas in which preaching and teaching
were being carried on. After the revolt there were only
three stations remaining; but by 1602 there were in addition
to St. Auguetine three major misslon centers, with from two

to nine surrounding villages in which work was carried on,

321p1d., p. 226.
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and flve smaller stations. DNombre de Dios was one, with
three towns subject; San Juan del Puerto was another, with
nine towns (all together ten towns regarded as Christian,
with a population of five thousand; four districts in this
area were asking for missionarles). The third center was
San Pedro, with two towne, Santo Domingo and Ssnta larila de
Sena (together with nearly three hundred Christisns). In
addition to these there were San Antonio, Chicafayo, Coti-
cyini, Yca Potano and Potano, with from three to forty
Christians in each, and others desiring Christianity. This
wes within five years of the uprising.33

That thls growth continued can be seen from & report of
1606, following Bishop Altamirano's visit and confirmation
tour. He visited at lesst seven centers: 5t. Augustine,
lNombre de Dios, San Pedro, Talaxe, 3t. Catherine Island,
San Juan del Puerto, and Potano, with its six towns. During
this tour he confirmed 2,074 Indians and 370 whiltes.

It was also eround this time that Fray Martin Priete
was especlally active, founding three new missions and
doctrinas in the Poteno area, introduclng Christianity into
Timucua, and making the first contacte with the Apalaches,
in what 18 now west Florida. This same report states that

in 1607 the total number of Christian Indians in Florida and

33Geiger, Franciscan Dictionary, pp. 121f.
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Georgls was about four thousand,’*® The work of the Francis-

can friars was well under way.

The Perlod of Growth: 1610-1674

Compared with the early =nd late periods of Franciscan
missions in Floride, this middle and most flourishing time
geemg to have hadlless written about 1t; at least the
meterials sre more scarce., There 1s more than enough to
egtablish the fact that the first three cuarters of the
seventeenth century were the ﬁost productive for the Fran-
ciscans, however. This hag been called the "golden age" of
the Florida mlssions. According to several historians, the
high point wes reached by 1674, when Bishop Gabridl Didz
Vara Calderdn made an evlscopal visit, for by this time the
very difficult area of Apalache hed been Christianized, and
work had been begun with some success in the next Indian
province of Analachicolea.

The work was by no means easy during these decades,
particularly on such occaslons as when Fray Prieto and his
teaching was strongly reslsted by & village whose caclgue
(or former cacique) remembered De Soto and understandably
harbored a great hatred for the gonguistadores. The work
of conversion wae hindered here for a short while, at least

untll a miraculous event was sald to have taken place,

3%1p14., p. 123.
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which Oré records:

Yhen I arrived at the end of three days, they notifiled
me that a child of four or five years of age was dying.
The gaclgue took me thither so that I could baptize 1it,
and et that almost in splte of ite parents. The child
wes already dying and while the parents and relestives
were crylilng over i%t, according to the custom of the
Indians, with great screams, the child raised 1tself
and sald: "Do not cry for me, rather sing, for I am
the first from this town who am golihg to enjoy Fod and
have rest. Cry over the wretched ones who have died
without eeelng this time and who are suffering.” I
told them %o consider these words of the child; that
the child itself did not say them, but some sngel.
Thesge words made such an impression cn its psrents and
on those who heard the words that they did not leave

me alone for = moment, asking me %o meke them Christlans.
Its parents have ever shown themselves o8 such since
that time and have led a virtuous life.35

Aside from its being interesting, perhaps the most that can
be learned from a statement guch as this 1s that after this
time mission work in the ares was more successful. This
epparently was the case, for doctrinasg were established
there soon.

Timucua was the first large area to be cultivsted dur-
ing this period and a considereble number of conversions
were made there by 1608, so that a2round that time Fray Prieto
was able to make a tour of the entire province with 1ts
chief cacigue. The greatest problem which these people were
having was with the ware being continually waged by Gran
Apalache, and it was this that gave the father occaslon %o
go on a peace miscsion to the latter couniry. He was con-

fident that since in Timucua the people had submitted to the

350ré, op. git., pp. 115f.
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king and since the falith of Chriet wes being planted, "God

would permit, since He had died for all men, that things

il

would turn out well 1n Apeslache, if I should go there, and
they would be saved."36 Hig belief wase correct, though
somewhat premature, since it wes not until about 1633 that
the converslions began in that area.

Occurring from time to time in letters and reports of
the perlod are lindications by the friars that many of fthe
Indisng desired Chrilstianity, and would come and request
missionaries. Oré guotes Fray Pareja on this:

It has happened that pagsns have come (as they do

every day from their towns to those of the Christians)
and recelve the blessing of the religious. The lat-

ter esk the Indians!: “What are you looking for here?"
To which they answer: "We came to see the church and
your houge and that of our relatives. . . ." After a
lapse of time they come and say: "Father, we have a

house for you and 2 church; come and instruct us for
the Christians have already told us i1t is of orime
importance for us to go and see the Utinama3? who is
in heaven above; besldes the caciques there, who are

. most orobisi, whioh means learned, tell us that they
heve become Christians, VWe also desire to become such
and go be guided by that which they say, instructed by
you.

From such reports as this it 1s easy to see tThe striking con-

trast which this period (about 1610-1620) provides with that

36:p34., p. 116.

37Dr. John R. Swanton says that this word signifies "the
powerful one" or "the all-powerful one." "It was a term &p-
plied to some of the native chilefs and it 1s interesting to
find that it wes used for 'God.'" Ibid., p. 110, note 14.

381p14,, p. 106.

s
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of the Jesulte, and 2lso in what respects this was coming
to be the "golden age" of the Franciscan missions.

There 1s another indicetion of Franciscan accomplish-
ment which should be added. Vhen Fray Oré made his visits
to Florida in 1614 and 1616 he observed that the Indians

knew their doctrine and catechlsm. Moreover there were

some Indlan men end women who knew how to read and
write, belng already thirty or forty yesrs of age.

They have learned these things within four years.39
And earlier he had made mention of the work which had made

thie possible, namely the lingulstic projects of Fray

“rancilsco Pareja,“o the first of whiech had been published

FIvid., p. 129.

OConcerning Fray Pareja, Celger gays: "Born at
Aufion, Spain. Vas a member of the Frovinee of Castile and
came to Florida with Fr. Juan de Silva and companions in
1595. In Florida he spent most of his missionasry years at
San Juan de Puerte and became the scholar par excellence of
the Tlmucuan language. We msde many expeditions into the
interior of Florida. From about 1609 to 1612, he was
custodio of the friars in Florida and at the Chapter of
Jan Buenaventure de {uadalquini, Georgla, he was elected
vrovincial of the Province of Santa Elena, December, 1616.*
Gelger, Franciscan Dictionary, p. 85, He reduced the
Timucuan language to writing, and left a detailed knowledge
of that language. Hia workse are Catechismo en Lengus

Castellans y Timuguana (Mexico, 1612); Cathecismo [sic]y
Bre¥® Exposicion de la Doctrina Christiana (Mexico, 1612);
anfgsg onario en Lengue Castellana y Ilimuquana (Mexico,

1613); Catheclsmo y Examen pers los gque gomulgan en Lengus
Castellan y Timuquans (Mexico, 1627); and Arte y Pronuncla-
clon en Lengua Timuquane y Cesstellana (Mexieco, 1614).  In
addition to these he wrote a2 number of pamphlets. Ore, op.
cit., p. 109, note 5. The only one of these titles which
could be located was the last. According to correspondence
from Fray Matthew Connolly, Director of Miazsion of Nombre de
Dics, $%t. Augustine, Florida, this particular work of Pareja
was published in Bibliothegque Linguistique Americaine
(Peris: Malsonneuve Freres et Ch. Leclerq Editeurs, 1886),
XI.
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in 1612. Concerning these books and devotional tracts ore
seye:
They are always in the hands of the Indians. ¥ith
esse many Indian men and women have learned to read in

less thsn two months, and they write letters to one
another in their own language.%l

Among the difflculties which were encountered durlng
this veriod, probebly the most persistent and troublesome
wes that offered by the Apaleches in the friars' attempte
to convert them.Y2 Ae was mentioned, the firat contact with
them falled to make any opening, and the second, in 1633,
though it marked the beglnning of a vermanent misslon, was
marked with difficulties, such as several instances of
treason (as the Spsnish called i1t). Thie was followed by a
repentance, however. The trouble in this srea continued
until 1647 when in an uprising three priests were killed.
There was also a Timucuan revolt in 1656, which had some
Apalache support. From these instances it can be seen thet
the rosy picture painted by some writers and observers was
not without 1ts dark spots.

In addition to the above-mentioned indications of the
growth of the missions in Florida durilng the seventeenth
century a few figures can be cited zs substantiation. Around
1609 there were sald to be twenty-two friars at work through-

. i /
out the settlements (Florida and Georgla); when Fray Luils Ore

41ope, op. eit., p. 103.
4ZGeiger, Franciscan Conquest, p. 24k4.
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came to see The situstion in 1614 he brought twenty-one
more with him; then in a report from 1618, during the time
of Governor Juan de Salinas, it is stated that thirty-
eight friare were doing mission work, indicating that only
a few had left. This waes a raplid increase in the mission
force, a doubling in ten years. Then from a report of 1655
it 1s etated that seventy friars were working in Florida,
besides five secular clerics at 5t. Auguetine; in this same
report the interestlng statement 1s made that up to that
time some 26,000 Indiansg had been Christianized.

As far as the current Christian Indian population was
concerned, the report which was given just after the epis-
copal visit by Blshop Calderon (the visit in 1674; report
from 1675), after listing thirty-seven msjor missions,
gtates that there were 13,152 native Christlans in Florida,
most of whom were confirmed by Caldereon.X3

Indicetions of the growth of the Franclscan work in
Florida can also be seen by the fact that the position of
Florida in the Order was ralsed very early in the century.
In 1587, the convents there formed a third of the Province
of the Holy Cross of Santa Elena, the rest of them belng
loecated in the Caribbean Islands, and in Venezuela. By 1611
the growth was great enough to warrant & division of the

province; Florida and Cuba became a single custody, with a

43Galger, Franciscan Dictionary, »p. 127f.
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locel preleate, the gustodio. Finally, in 1612, the custody
was ralsed to a province; this was what occasioned the viasit

/
of Ore two years later. During his second visit to Florida
in 1616 the Order of Friars Minor held a chapter meeting,
at which Fray Pareja was elected Provinecial.

The increased importance of the Florida friars in their
order did not mean that thelr difficulties with government
officlals ended, however; problems sgtill oeccurred and
caused such 111 feeling as Parej)s expresces. He says that
the religious must do without some of their food, drink, and
clothing which was provided by the king so that they might

7
"adorn the alfars." He tells of himself and Fray Ruiz mak-
ing chalices out of lead, and of each one being forced to
go without saying maes for a time whille the other was using
the vestments, and continuing in this way "until we provided
ourselves with the necessaries of the sacred ministry by
the sacrifice of our meals.” He then emphaslizes that while
they were sacrificing, the governor and others had no re-
gard for them at all:

The lead out of which the chalices were made, and the

stones for the altars, we obtained by contributing to

the common cause from the meagre ration that was given
us or from the alms which Your Majesty commands to be
given to us. Often it appears that they [the govern-
ment officials] throw it to the dogs, since 1t seems %to
them that the soldiers are the necessary ones here

and that we are of no use; but we are the ones who bear

the burden and heats, and we are the ones who are sub-
duing and conquering the land, bb

“uOré, op. cit., ». 107.
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To be held in such low regard by the officials was bad
enough, but there was a much more serious difficulty, which
the friars especlally protested because 1t interfered with
thelr work, Fray Lopez asks thet the governor perform his
duty and provide protection for religlous working inland,
there being sometimes difflculty because of thelr grest dis-
tance from 5t. Augustine. He alsgo asks that certain Chris-
tian Indlanes be discinlined, "who are fugitives in the in-
terior," and fhis esvecially so that the proper "“father
lmage" may be presented to the Indlans, "for it belongs to
him who governs %o punish and threaten, while it 1ls the
part of the religious to be kind fathere to the natives in
order to win their love. "5 UWhether or not this attitude
shows any change in the mlssionary epproach of the friars 1%
ig difficult %o say. Perhaps the protests snd the remedial
measures of civil governcrs forced them %o relinguish some
of the diseiplinary meagures. The ploture ie further il-

£

luminated by Fray Rulz:

The natives are to be thanked for the love they show us

and for the way they attend to the things of Christian-

ity. And ell this without the governor having shown

any Tavor in regard to 1t; rather, he ghowed Just the

opposite. He discredited us and allowed the Indians to

have thelr own wey as much as they pleased. Thilngs

are going topsy-turvy here. When we see the Indlans

doing any exceas worthy of punishment which we cannot

remedy, if we ask the governor to correct it, he con-
nives, with the result that the Indlans look upon him

Ve
usGeiger, Franciscan Conguest, p». 151, from "*Declaracion
del p. Fr. Baltazar Lopez."
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28 thelr father and upon us as accusers. Thig is Just

the contrary of what 1t should be; since the governor's

duty 1s to punish them while we are to do the supplicat-

%ggefggtggggyénénihzhus Ehey wgulﬁ hold us for Egelr

governor for a Jjust Judge.

The %one and content of this statement appear to in-
dicate e certaln outward calm on the Florida scene result-
ing from the clivil government's having the upper hand. At
the same time 1%t plainly shows the inner tension which still
persisted.

In order to add a 1ittle more to the understanding of
the type of misslonary work which the friars did, as well
ag the results which they had, and in order %to give an in-
dication of the apirit of the Christian Indians {(at least
ag some of the religious saw it), some of Oré's investiga-
tiong into the state of the church in Florida nmight be
examined. Since the investigatlons were made in the period
orior %o 1620, and since the flourishing vericd of the mis-
gsions in Florida continued until about 1675, the condition
which Oré found should fairly well hold true for the entlre
period.

During Oré's vislt, many questions were directed toward
Fray Pareja, who had examined Indians from various sections
of Florida "in order to ascertain Af Communion could be

given to them." When asked 1f the Indlans confeaseld as

hsIb;d., P. 154, from “Declaracion del P. Fr. Pedro
Ruilz.
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Christieng,

I answer yes, 1f they are sufficlently instructed. As
2 person who has visited this custody, I have looked
carefully into this matter, to see that they had that
gutficlency to receilve Holy Communion, and I have found
no reason why they should be denled this Sserament.
Many persons aere found, men and women, who confess and
who receive (Holy Lommunion) with tearq and who show
up advantageousgly with many Spaniards. "And I shall
meke bold to say and susbain wny contention by what I
have learned by experilence that with regard to the
nysteries of falth, many of them enswer better than
the Epanlards because the latlier are cereless in these
ratters. The religiocus never cease to inatruet them
and repeat to them the Yord of God daily. Vhat ver-
tains to falth and bellef, God is the One whe can
Judge. Ve can Jjudge only by a verscon's exterior mani-
festations, who by the actions he nerforms presumably
gshows forth the workings of falth.*

The Tact that there appear te have been many of these people
capable of receiving communion does lndicate something of
their sepiritual state, since the Franeiscan friars did not
always permit their Indlsn converts to have thls privilege.
for example, in the Caslifornia migsions during the eight-
eenth century there wag only a small minority who were
granted the sctual recepticn of the Sacrament.

There aleo seems to have been a very greet desire on
the part of these Indians %o confess, and a fear of becomling
111 end in danger of death without a confession. Fray
Pare ja sald that "When someone is 1ll, they immediately send
one of the runners of the town for the priest 1in order

that he might hear the person's confeseion and administer

h70ré, ep. ¢it., p. 106.
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extreme unction." Or, "Others, when they sre 111, have them-
gelves brought in canoes tc where the priest is in order te
confess, and after they have done this they return to thelr
houses or huts.*“8 Zven vwhen 2 religlous leaves his con-
vent, on business, or for medical treatment, "many Indian
men and women ask him to hear thelr confesslons, saying,
‘verheps I shall die before your reverence returns. 1 ak9

A third significant fact concerning the spiritual de-
velopment of fthese Indians 1s that they no longer hold to

the ancient superstitions. Parelja says:

I have never found a trace of 1dolatry or witcheraft
or superstition. For instance they never say: "By
means of this you will be healed; 1f you do not cure
yourself with thlis herb, you will die"; or, "if the
owl hoote, 1t 1s 2 gign that some disgrace must over-

take me"; . . . or "do not eat malze of the cultivated
land where lightning struck for you will be sick with
such a sickness. . . .

411 these things and others has the word of the Gospel
extirpated so much so that the Indlens do not even re-
member them, Furthermore, the younger generation which
hes been nourished on the milk of the Gospel makes fun
of and laughe at some o0ld men and women who carelessly
have recourse to these abuses.

It 1s difficult to know how general this conditlon was,
and how much the prelate's statement was affected by his
desire to represent his territory in a favorable light be-

fore his superior. If this was a general condition, then

481p14., ». 105.
491pb14.
501p14., p. 106.
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there certalnly had been a great deal accomplished in forty

or fifty years of mission work.

The Period cof Decline: 1675-1763

During the period following Bishop Calderon's visit,
and most notleeably during the last quarter of the seven-
teenth century, the state of the Franciscan missions went
steadlly downward. As has been mentioned, the Indians were
never settled for any length of time, ze the frliars slways
desired‘them to be, but their restlessnezs increased still
more during these next years, for several important reasons.
A orimary one was the international struggle in America.
France was agealn causing Spain considerable anxiety, with
explorations in the Mississippi srea (as Lasalle, about
1682) and along the Gulf coast. This latter activity es-
pecinlly affected Florida, and caused Spain to establish =
poet at Pensacola, Jjust edging out the French, who set up
theirs 2z little farther west, at Moblle.

The other half of the international problem was the
rapidly-inereasing Engligh threat to the north cf Florida.
This proved to be the most serious for the Spanlsh coleny.
In addition to the threat of the English themselves was the
great influence that they seemed to have on the Indians in
the territories surrounding and separating the English and
Spanish settlements. In many ways the English seemed to

act as o catalyst to the always-unstable Indian population.
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Thé result was that the Spanlsh found an ever-increasing
difficulty in retaining the Indlans ae allies. From about
1680 there took place frequent transfers of allegiance by
Indlan tribes especially for purposes of trade with the
English. Besidees this, there were difficulties with the
Indians themselves, such as the Apalachian rebelllion and
the accompanying depopulation of the Apalache migsicn aresa.
Altogether there were a number of destructive influences at
work, which wiped out many of the mlssions--and also weak-
ened the hold of Svain in Americsa.

The success of the missions during this century was
not achleved without opposition from tThe Spanish themselves,
28 has been indicated. And tThe same handicaps which the
fathers had to overcome served further to alienate the In-
dians during this later period of difficulty. The influence
here referred to ls the treatment of Indians by the Spanish
colonists, eivilien and military. On the whele, the treat-
ment by the clergy was relatively good, but that of the non-
religlous mede for a "slumbering resentment" as Boyd calls
it. The hostile reletionship which was established from
the first contacts in the sixteenth century continued ap- |
parently without much change until the late seventeenth and
eighteenth centurles. A number of documents in Boyd's
volume give a clear picture of the brutality and mistreat-

ment of Indiasns which eo often prevailed, things which the
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government representatives took no asction to correct.3’1
There were such things as forced labor, with no pay, or at-
tacks made on pagan Indians who came peacefully to the set-
tlements to trade. The very attitude of the Spaniards, one
of arrogance and contempt, which prompted them to do such
things as keep their cattle in the villages, wandering on
the oroperty of the Indlans, instead of on thelr own -
ranches, very understandably evoked hostility from the In-
dizsns. Often the Spaniards would take Indian land and
bullding sites for themselves.32

Sueh an attitude as this, together with the activity
and ths very different attitude of the English, should make
the radicsl chenge in the Spanish giltustion in Floride quite
underetandable. Vhen the Bpanish continuslly oppreassed the
regsentful Indians, and the English gave them up-te-date
weapons (which the Spaniards had always refused to do) and
seemed to liberete them from restraint with which they had
been living for o long, it is not surprising that the sit-
uatlion turned out as it did.

Thus the Spanish power and the missicnaries' influence

steadily and rapidly decreased in Florida, snd Indlan uprislngs

51, F. Boyd, H. G. Smith, and J. W. Griffin, Here The
Once Stood (Gainesville: University of Florida Press, 1951),
pp. 24, 26, from letters of complaint by Indlan gacigues to
Sganish colonlal officials, dated February 12 and April 10,
1699.

52;2;@-, pp. 27f., Document 8.
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and hostilities increased, with greater frequency and
greater violence.

The beglnning of the end came soon after the turn of
the century, when Colonel James Moore of South Carclina made
his invasion of Florida, with his army of some seventy or
eighty Englishmen, and about one thousand Indian allies.

His attempt to capture S5t. Augustine falled, but south and
west of that place, at Ayubale, lioore was successful. The
Indians there, the few Snanlesrds, end the prlest who fought
beglide them held out for a short while, but soon were over-
come by Moore's force. After this, most of the towns gave
up with 1little or no resistance. The king of Ivitachueco
made peace immediately, and offered to Moore the church
plate from the misgion; most other villages gave up peace-
fully.53

The only real opposition offered was at the Spanish
garrigon at Fort San Luis, but it was overcome by X¥oore, and
a succegsful expedition was completed, except for the return
march with (according to Moore) more than five thousand cap-
tive and "liberated" Indians. DMoore regarded it as a suc-
cess because the Apslache territory was now unable to supply
3t. Augustine or "disturb, damage or frighten our Indians

1iving between us (Carolinas) and Apalachee" (as Moore put

531bid., pp. 91f., Document 4bk.
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1t).5u Thie was a safe Judgment, since some thirteen vil-
lages were destroyed in Apalache, besldes the fort and set-
tlement as San Luls.

The Spanish did not =imply glve up at this point, but
they were unable to reverse the trend. There were & few
Indlen uprisings against the Fngllish (Creeks, Yemasses);
there were several more missicns founded, by Spanish and
Indians. But Spain wes simply unable to cope with the new
situation, and so the Franciscan settlements and work con-
tinued to decline. A very interesting indication of the
change which had taken place since 1675 is a report of 1738,
listing the missions in existence 2t that date; therse were
elght and all together they had 104 families and 354 persons.
This was the change that some gixty-four years had brought.55

The situation until 1763 and the end of the Florida mis-
slons is descrlbed by CGelger:

From 1702 to 1763 the missgion field was a mere skeleton
of its former self. Finslly in 1763 Florida became
English territory and the Franciscan misslons were no
more. At that date only a handful of friars were 1ln
Floride and the remnant of the mission Indians lived
within the ghadow of the great Fort San Marcos, at 5t.
Augustine.56 -

54%1p1a., pp. 93f., Document 45.

55Geiger, Franciscan Dictionary, ». 139, from a report
of Don Manuel de Montiano, December 31, 1738.

561psa., p. 11.



CHAPTER IV
THE NEW MEXICO MISSIOHS

The Founding of New Mexico and

Its Missions: 1598

Following Coronado's dieillusioning expeditions in
1540-1542, there were no attempts made to enter New lMexico
until 1581, when a small perty of soldiers, Mexican Indians,
and two friars went under the leadership of a third friar,
Agust{n Rodriguez. A great deal of country was explored,
but before 2 year had passed, the ones who were still alive
returned to Santa Barbara in northern Mexico; two of the
religious had dled 2% the hands of Indians. A second ex-
pedition left during the same yeer, to further explore the
country, to make more contacts with the Indians, and to de-
termine the fate of the two frisrs. Thelr reports, includ-
ing much information on the country around the Rlo del Horte
and far to the east, and zlso indicating the possibllities
for gold and silver mining, stirred a great deal of interest
when they returned. For the next ten or twelve years a num-
ber of Spanish nobles, officers, snd adventurers fought %o
get the contract for a major expedition to the "other"
Mexico, and for the founding of a settlement thers. Several
unauthorized--and unsuccessful--attempts were made about

1590, WNothing happened of importance until 1595-1598, when
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8. contract weas finally given by the king, =2nd an expedition
begun.
The conquest of Mexico three-quarters of = century
earlier had proved a very fruitful wventure, both from the

king's viewpoint and from that of the conguistadores. They

had sought wealth and they had found 1t, along with the ad-
vanced civilization of the Aztecs. Much of the myth of New
Mexico had by the last decade of the slxteenth century been
dispelled, especially by Rodriguez and Espejo (in 1581-1582),
but the hope of discovering rich mines wes 8%t1ll strong.

And so toward the end of this cenfury the ms jor conquest was
begun, with the chiefl goasl being, as always, the diacovery
of wealth for Spain and for the conguerors.

This 18 not to say that the desire for precious metals
was the only desire whieh anyone had,ver thet the friars
which always sccompanied expeditions were the only ones in-
terested in converting the Indians., 7To assume that the
declargtions of the king, or the petitions of many Spanish
adventurers (both concerning settlement and pacification)
were meaningless when they expressed desires that the In-
dians be converted, would be going teo far. Nevertheless,
the desire for new wealth was the most lmportant motive.

The man who was finally to receive permission to go
into New Mexico was a descendsnt of a family of dlstinctlon
in New Spain, Don Juan de Onate. He first received the con-

tract in 1595, but met with about three years of red tape,
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disappointments, and postponements. There was z conditional
approval, there were asppeals to the king, new grants of
limited end modified contracis, and oppositicn from others
who wanted To go te New Mexico themselves, such as Pedro
Ponce de Ledn (who attempted to leave with his own company).
Onate's army started, was halted, received twe insvections,
and at last started from San CGerdnimo in January of 1598.

Some of the detzils of_Oﬁate's original contrect were
thet he wes to recruit and'equip two hundred men as his
military force, at hls own expense, ag well ag To supply the

entire force for the trip end Tor o long period in lew

exico. Roysel aid %o be given was & salery of six thousand

ducats, a loan of slx thousand vesos (for six yesars), rights

of encomienda for three generations, the right tc establish
the government, appoint officlals, begin operating mines,

construct buildings, and make lawe, 211 subject to zpproval
by the Council of the Indies and the king. He would zlso be
allowed tc recruit his srmy anywhere, and to be free from a
number of taxes and duties for e stated length of time. In
addition to this, Tive priests and a lay brother were to go
along at the expense of the king.l

As metters turned out, Onate started with 129 =oldlers,

thirty or forty non-military, some servants, some wlves and

1 - te and the Found
George P. Hammond, Don Juan de Onate and naing
f New Mexigceo (Senta Fe: El Palaclo Press, 1927), pp. 19-22.
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children of soldlers, ten padres, and some geven thousand
hesd of livestock.

The trip was made in the same way and under the same
conditions as most of the others hed been. The first con-
tacts in liew lMexico territory found the Indians aporehen-
sive, and the pueblces deserted when the Spaniards reached
them. As always, gifts of trinkets served to somewhat calm
the Indians. Agein exploration was made of each area
reached by the entourage, although without finding much in
the way of gold or silver ore.

In July the first settlement was made, at San Juan (de
log Caballeros); this was for a short while the capital.
Before the settlement had been made, the surrounding Indlans
were gathered, with geven chiefs, other native leaders and
the Spenish officere end missionaries. Through interpret-
ers Ohate explained to the Indians that the king of Spain
desired them all to be his subjects. "If they submltted
they would be protected from their enemies. DBut he was
easpecially eager for the salvation of thelr souls.” The
chiefs listened to Onate explain the doctrine of salvation,
and tell of the fate which all would receive who were not
baptized, and "willingiy agreed to accept the God and king
of the Spaniards, and ae a sign of thelr submission kneeled
and kissed the hands of the father commissary and the
governor." As Hemmond says, they may not have underatood

much of what was taking place, but very likely they understood
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plainly the punishment and damnation which was in store for
them 1f they rerused.z
 About one month after the founding of San Juan, the

first church 1n New Mexico was built, San Juan Bautista,
and dedicated on September &, complete with a celebration.

Aslde from minor skilrmishes, there were no resl dif-
ficulties with the Indiens during thesé first months of
settlement and exploration. The captaln, Ofiate, and his
soldiers explored far %o the east and alcong both banks of
the Rio del Norte, whieh runs through the center of HNew
Mexico (of the state of New Mexico, as it is today); bulld-
inge were erected at San Juan; and the friars attempted to
win some of the surrounding Indian tribes.

But in December of the same year, 1598, there took place
a sudden outburst of violence. Juan de Zald{var, maestre de
cempo, with twelve of his men had stopped to ask for food at
the fortress-like pueblo of ﬁooma,3 where they were attacked
and killed. This action was regarded by Onate and his of-
ficers as just cause for war, and an expedition was sent %o

receilve the surrender of fcoma or to punish it., The Indians

2Ibid., p. 99. See elgo Frederick V. Hodge, G. P. 3
Hammond, and Agapito Rey, editors, Fray Alonsoc de Eenavides
Revised Memorial of 1634 (Albuquerque: Universlty of New
Mexico Press, 1945), v. 59.

, 3Probab1y the best known of the New Mexico pueblos,
Acoma, is located on the top of a meas which 1s at least a
mile across, and whose nearly vertlcal sides riae about
five hundred feet from the surrounding area.
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were extremely defiant and shouted ridicule at the small
Tforce of about seventy men which intended to defeat them.
Vlllagré, a ceptein who was a part of this force, color-
fully tells of the battle which followed and which lasted
several dayf.ﬁ By a rather skillful strategy of deployment
of forces, by relentless fighting, with the aid of two field
pieces (and of course their other firearms) brought to the
top of the mesa, and with a greater organization, the Span-
lards soundly defeated the ﬂcomans, whe suffered six hundred
to eight hundred casualtles, seventy to eighty taken cap-
tive, and also zbout five hundred women and children cap-
tured with the pueblo; apnarently very few Spanlards were
lost.

In the trisl that followed, Onate sentenced every last
member of the pueblo of feoma., Hammond describes the sen-

tence:

Onzte ordered that all males over twenty-five years of
age be condemned to have one foet cut off and %o give
twenty years of versonal gervice., The men between
twelve and twenty-five years escaped with twenty years
of service. All the wemen sbove twelve years of sge

Lagpar Pérez de Villagré tells of the expedition from
Mexico and the entire perlod of Onate's rule in an epic
poem, first printed in Alcald in 1610, It 1s qulte inter-
esting as an example of a popular form of memolr-writlng of
the period, but 1t 1s considered by many historians of the
Southwest to be more valusble a8 history than as poetry. A
fairly recent translation of this work 1s History of HNew
Mexico (Los Angeles: The Quivira Soclety, 1933). 1t was
also printed under the original title Historie de la Nueva
Mexlco (Mexico:! n.p., 1900}, I and II. The English trans-
lation 18 not in verse.
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were llkewlse doomed to twenty , years of servitude.

Two Moqul natives ceptured st Acoms were condemned to

lose the right hand and to be sent home as a werning

to the others. The boys and girls below twelve years
escaped punishment, but they were to be aubject to the

Spanlards, fhe girls being made the epeclal charpges of

Father Martinez and the boys of Vicente de Zaldivar.

The sentence was executed as decreed.’

This first% revolt, or vieclence, begun by the Indlans
in the history of the permanent settlement of HNew Mexico
was also the last major one--untlil the episode of 1680.

The punishment of ﬁcom& wasg apparently quite effective, and
the "province of New Mexlco was cowed into obedience."”

The ‘pacification of the natives may have been sac-
complished by this sction, but the many troubles of the
gsettlement were Just beginning. The most important problem
(certainly one of the most important, 2t least) was one
which was to continue indefinitely, as it did in all of the
Spanish colonles. This trouble was that which the frlars
had with the Spaniards (eivilian and military) and their
attitude toward the Indizns, and 1t was serious enough that
the friars, as well as most of the clvilians and soldlers,
petitioned that the settlemsnt in New Mexleco be deserted.
In the inguiry held by lieutenant-governor Penalosa the
vice-commlgsary, Fray San Miguel charged (and Hammond re-

gards 1t as well-grounded) that

instead of finding a spirit of kindliness toward the
netives they were treasted with utter disregard. The

5Hammond, op. e¢it., pp. l22f.
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result was that the Word of God was blasphemed and not

blessed. He had begun to learn four of the native

languages and had worked hard to seocure converts. In
these efforts he had experienced the grestest diffi-

Rokhen; Sk VENER: AOILAnE T EAY, Asthine 16 Ve R

’ . g to eat, nething is alive.
Certainly the shortage of food, end the poor land and the
general poverty were a2ll important factors in bringing cbout
such a situation as Fray San Miguel describes, but the
action of the soldiers weas not unusual in spite of that.
It was an ¢0ld problem and one that obviously interfered with
the work of the religlous. This same priest also said in
the testimony that on occasions the Indian chiefs had been
tortured and many killed in order %o make them tell where
theilr maize wae concealed. There had been thousands of
Indisns who had starved, and many driven to eat branches of
trees, earth, charcoal and ashes.

This being the condition of the whole province, it 1s
not too surprising that the mejority of the Spanish colonilats
were in favor of deserting. Nor 1s 1t surprising that
lieutenant-governor Penalosa could sanction their action, as
he did. Thie was the situation in the fall of 1601 when the
ma jority of the people left San Gabriel (the capital since
1600) to return to Mexico, leaving only Penalosa, the father-

commissary, and twenty-five scldlers. Repercussions were

severe when Onate dlscovered what had happened, at least as

61pia., p. b4,
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far as he himself wae concerned; his protessts were strong
and lmmediste. In Mexlco, however, the viceroy and several
theologlans gave their opinion on the matter, and though
not recommending thet the province be abandoned, they sup-
vorted the action of the deserters to = considerable extent.
Onate never got his colonists bsck.

For the next few years New lMexico was on the vergs of
abandonment. Onate was recalled, and resigned in 1607; one
of his capteing, Juan I'-ﬂar-tj.,nez de Montoyez, succeeded him
briefly as governor, During this uncertain time, the crder
caiule that if work were to continue, methoeds were to be some-
what different than before. Very few srms and soldlers were
to be permitted, only enough for the protection of the re-
ligious, and this consideration was made only in the light
of the ever-present Apache danger.

The mission situstion after nearly ten years of work
wesa summarized by Fray Lazaro Ximéhez, who had been working
in New Mexico, and who wzsg sent by his confreres and the
rest of the colonists to give to the viceroy the reasons for
sbandoning the work there. He sald that

the harvest of souls had been small end was likely to

continue thus bscause of the hoatility of the natives.

The religious had shown little disposition %o learn the
numerous native languages. It was not only diffiecult,

but practically 1mﬁoasible, to bring supplies from
Mexico begause of the distance and the expense. Sol-
dlers would not serve voluntarily in New Mexico, for
there was no hope of gain. Consequently it cost between

450 and 500 pesos each to maintaln them there. No gold



76

or silver mines head been discovered, it was a barren
land altogether.?

It seems that the Councill of the Indles would have

recommended abandoning New Mexico if 1t had not been for one

matter--the Chrigtian Indians there. The recommendation was
that 1f some friars wounld veluntarily remain, then the
province should not be abandoned. Otherwise, the Christian

Indlans would heve to be removed, cor left by themselves to

revert to heathenism. ¥Which would be best would have %to be
decided by Jurists and thecloglans.

The end of the year 1608 saw the picture change, how-
ever, when Fray Ximéhes returned to Mexico with news of a
fruitful summer and a2 totsl of eseven thoﬁsand converts (as
opposed to four hundred before). Not unimportent were the
gamples of silver ore which the father also brought.

The next year saw new life in New lexlco, with Don
Pedro Peralta as governor; 1t was also in this year or soon
efter that the capital was moved from San Gabriel teo Santa

Fe.
The Migsionaries' Approach

in Fray Alonso de Benavides' history of the first
tﬂlrty years of New Mexlcc mlssion work certain statements

and incidents are given relating te this work. Many of these

71pid., pp. 175f.
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must be coneldered with a cerfain amount of reservation for
various reasons, but in spite of this there can be seen
something of the way in which the friars approached the In-
dlang to win them to the church and salvatlon.

The myeticism, the reverence for holy objects, and the
liking for plous-sppearing actions and gestures which wers
so much a part of the relligion of the Franclscans were char-
acteristics that were well-suited to such a situation as
they found in Hew Mexlco. Belng unable to sveak with the
Indians with any facility for at least many years, the
friars had to rely on sign language toc communlcate, unless
there was an interpreter around. Fray Benavides tells of
his own use of this approach on one occasion when he was
paesing through en unconverted netion. After some prelim-
inery exchenges,

I made & crosg the length of a ,lance and set 1t up

from the center of the rancheris. Then, as best as I

could, I explained to them that if they worshiped thils

holy symbol with 21l their hearts they would find
therein the aid for all their needs. Fzllling on my
knees, I kigsed it. They all did the same. ¥ith this
my soul was comforted greatly, for 1t wes the first
cross that they adored in thls place.
Although suech & lesson as this one taught by Benavides could
hardly accomplish anything for the Indiane as far as thelr

conversion is concerned (Benavidee of course does not say

this), it certainly made use of the most obvious and logiesal

8Hodge, Hammend, and Rey, op. eit., ». 53.
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approach to these superstitious people. It would not take
long to teach them many of these simllar forms, and even

make them appear outwerdly to be Christiane. Of course it

muet not be assumed that the frisrs' only desire was for
outward manifestations.

Like all the other missiocnaries, Benavides wes a be- g
liever in mirecles. Nearly every frier who ever wrote any- |
thing nbout this misslon work had gome wonderful accounts
of miracles to relate, mirscles which served to win many
converte among the Indians. This same cross of Eenavides /
wags 8ald by him to be respongible for several minor miracles:

Among others, there came an Indian woman with a footh-

ache; with much devetion she held open her mouth with

her hands end put her teeth close to the holy creoss.

Another, in the peins ¢of childbirth, touched the holy

tree with her body. From the comfort znd Jjoy with

which they departed, I have great falth in the divine

ma Jesty who would work there His miracles in confirma-

tion of His divine word, without considering the un-

worthiness of the minister who preached 1t.

Beeides teaching the Indians such practices as the
veneration of the crcss there was much done in the way of
formal education; much was attempted at least. IV was a
difficult thing usually to persuade the Indlans to settle
permanently in pueblos, where the friars could teach them,
and where they could practice their religion, but gradually
this was done, and convents and churches were bullt at each

of the pueblos. It was in this situation that knowledge

9Ib1d., p. 53. See also Appendix B.
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and skillle were imparted to the Indians, especlislly to the
young. In addition to learning how to read and write, they
were taught how to sing and pley musical insgtruments, and
&lgo how to work with certain crafts. Fray FZscobar seems
to have been guite esuccessful, for

besides teaching the Christian doctrine by his ex-

cellent example, he also tTaught the Indlians to make

muslcal instruments, and how to play them, wlth which

they now_ celebrate the divine service with great so-
lemnity. 10

And Frey Carrasco, beslides having constructed a church with
"fine architecture," and besides fieaching the usual sub-
Jecte, developed an outstanding boys' choir. 11

There were also other duties which the friars assumed
a8 they became establislied in a2 plece. They served ss ar-
biters of quarrels between Indians, and mediated land dls-
putes. They aiao gaw to it that grein and meat were avall-
able for the poor. All of these charitable acts were done
by the friars so that they might trein the Indiens te look
upon them as fathers, and so that they might actually live
the part of fathers to the Indians. F. ¥. Hodge does not
feel, hewever, that the contribution of the friare on Fheso
matters wes so great; he saye vhat they did was to merely
revise the distribution of food. HNe one was actually better

off; no Indien had ever starved before the religious came

107p14., p. 61.
1p3g., p. 71.
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(at least not from voverty or negleet).? The same thing
wag true with orphans, whom the frisrs often tried to take
care of, or provide for; amongat the Indlans they were al-
ways well taken care of by relatives.

Frequently eppearing in stetements by the fathers are
indications of a kind of optimism with regard to the future
of Christianity in New Mexico. Unless they found themselves
in the middle of an uprleing, many of the fathers seemed to
feel that st any time the whole section of the country might
at any time become Chrlstian. Benavides reveals this in
telling eabout an old sorcerer who on one occasion opposed
him, The friar was preaching toc & crowd in the plaze, and
the sorcerer sald to him (seeing the effectiveness of his
arguments), "You Chrietiane ere crazy; and you deeire and
pretend that this pueblc also ghall be crazy." Benavides
then surmises that the old man is referring to the self-
flagellsating in procession which takes place during Holy
Week, and which he regards as & madness.

Wher he saw that I laughed, as did those around me, he

rushed out of the pueblo, s2aying that he did noct wieh

to be orazy. When I explained to the people the reason
why we scourged ourselves, they laughed all the more at

the o0ld man and were more ccnfirmed in thelr desire to
become Christians.l

125 pederick V. Hodge, Spanish Explorers in the Southern
United States, 1528-15473 zNew York: Barnes and Noble, Ine.,

19535, p. 320, note 150,
13Hodge, Hammond, and Rey, op. ¢it., p. 66.
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It 1s the tone of Benavides' words that suggests this
optimism. How correct his observations or conclusions were
in this situation is not important, but 1t is of interest
to see his own attitude, his belief in the propensity of
these Indiansg toward Chrigtianity.

This optimism is also evident in connection with an oc-
casion on which there were contacts wlth certain Apaches,

On one occasgion, a captainvsﬁnaba of the Gila Apaches, whom
Benavides says he converted, came to him with a drawing on
a deerskin, showing a sun and a2 moon, with a cross above
them. The friar regarded this as a "fruit of the divine
word"; Hodge says 1t was Apache "soft soap." Whatever the
truth was, here was another instance of the optimistic out-
look--especlally so since the Apaches were such notorious
deceivers and perennial enemles.

One other indication of the sames attitude 1s stated
plainly as Benavides describes the way in which the baptized
Indians of New Mexico observe the Catholic falth. He says
that they become quite domestic after baptism, and live with
great propriety. As soon as they hear the bell, they hurry
to church; they pray with devotion and reverently etiend
mass} they come to confession with thelr sins well studied,
and on a knotted string; they perform many penances during
Lent, and flagellate themsslves during Holy Week. They are
also careful to bring children for baptiem and the sick for

confession and the laying of hands by the priest. And they



82
respond wherever they are to the bell tolling for the Ave
Marlia or prayers for the dead; they willingly help in build-
ing of churches, and they give of thelr firat fruits.
Lastly they are all very happy and recognlize the blind-
ness of ldolatry from which they have emerged and the

bleseings they enjoy in being the children of the
church. This they often admit.l%

Exactly how much Benavides exsggerated the situation in
New lMexlico 1s not easy to say. He most certainly wanted a
good report to go back to Spain and %o Rome, since his pur-
vose was to promote the work of this field and to attract
more religious. The number of conversions which he gives 1is
probably cloge to one hundred %times the actusl figure. But
in splte of these facts his description of the New Mexicen
plety 1s characteristic of the optimlstic manner in which
meny of these friars wrote. This attitude, together with
such thinge as their frequent mention of miracles, and their
desire to be locked upon es father by the Indians 28 well as
their common desire for martyrdom all form & pert of theilr
Franciscan plety, by which they wanted to be remembered, and

by which they hoped to conquer New Mexlco.
The Long Struggle: 1610-1680

The problem which was inherent in the church-state re-
lationship because of the Patronato Real in effect in New

141p34a., pp. 99°f.
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Spein was anticipated by the friars assigned to New Mexico
even before the expedition of Ofiate had left New Spain.
They vprepared a memorial which was sent to the viceroy

through the commisgary-general of the order in which they

TRt (liiE |

attempted to "delimlt The activitles of the religlous and
temporal authorities." They asked the viceroy

to prohibit the governor and royal officials from
interfering with the establishment of churches or
gschools wherever the friars might desire to locate
them; to have the governor aggemble the Indiansg in
towns thet they might be more easlly reached by the
fethers; to permit trips into the interior by the
padres without military escert (which the viceroy ob-
Jected to, since they might simply be seeking martyr-
dom) . . . to reserve to the relizgious freedom of
communication with the viceroy and their superiors;
to guarantee the natives freedom freom serving the
Spanlards in order not to incite their hostillty; to
insure the governor's leniency in meking a census of
the province which was to be used in apportionlng
tribute.l

Hammond in this place mentions only the conflicting inter-
ests which would exist when the soldiers and friars would
reach New Mexlco, but 1t seems that'the latter would defi-
nitely have had in mind the weakness (from their viewpoint)
of the Spanish colonial aystem when they wrote thelr memo-
rial and made their requests.

Of course it was necessary for the conflicts of inter-
est to arise in order to concretize or bring to a foocus the
inherent problems of the Patronato. These conflicts were

not long in arieing. "The maintenance of empire, the

15Hammona, op. elt., pp. 78f.
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establlishment of colonies of Spanish immigrants, and the ex-
plolitetion of the resources" together brought one forece into

operatlon opposing that exerted by the misaionaries in their

desire to convert the Indians. Very soon there was an open
rivalry as the two powers struggled for supremacy. As far
a8 the crown was concerned in all of this, there was issued %
"a mase of legislation that was inevitably confused and con-
tradictory.“16

In addition to the confliet of interests, the confliet
of powers and the contradictory leglielatlion there was a
problem which Scholes mentions--"the conflict between the
general humanitarian orinecloles of fthe Crown and the hard
fects of colonial life and administration® which so fre-
quently came up in different phases of Spanlsh colonlal
policy. He uses a8 an illustration the leglslation on
burden-bearing, the use of Indiane as carriers of cargo. The
poliecy of the Crown here was prohibltion of such uses, even
when the Indlans would do this work for pay. In many parts
of the Indies exceptions were made, however, because there
were too few pack animals and too few trails and roads

guitable for the purpose.l? Thus there were a great many

16prance V. Bcholes, Church gnd State in New MeXxico
1610-1650 (Albuquerque: University of New Mexico FPress,
1937), p. 12.

17Ibld., p. 94, note 19. Here Scholes adds that the
"1awe of 1601 and 1609 on personal service definitely pro-
hibited burden-bearing.”
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sources of conflict in the New Mexico slftuation; and it
seems that they all came into play during the seventeenth
century.

Further complicating the situation were the personal
charscteristics of the various governors and frilar-prelates.
It seems that at 2ll times at lezst one of the heads, of
church or of government, was excessive in some way. Yhen
Fray Ordonez was prelate, he caused a great deal of trouble;
e few years later it was governof Eulate who became unbear-
able. Time after time the o»relate would excommunicate the
governor for some reason, and a feud would result when the
governor would demand absclutlion, and perhaps take some
punitive measures of his own.

Always a great problem for the religlious was the thought
of submission to the state, especially in affairs which might
in any way relate to things spiritual. BEenavides in about
1630 complained that there was not even permitted the right
of sanctuary for anyone; if o person were to seek the pro-
tection of the church, 1t would have to be done on the gov-
ernor's suthority. Because of this and other abuses the
conversions were disturbed and hindered. The governor even
issued proclemations,

telling the people not to obey the friars in anything,

except that those who want to mey hear mags, that the

friars have no other powers, that the gOVengr alone 18
the one who has authority as a Jjudge there.

18Hodge, Hammond, and Rey, op. g¢it., pp. 172f.
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Such a situation would certainly be & difficult one for any
churchman to taeke; and not all of them did submit to the
state, as in the case of Fray Isidro Ordohez, orelate during
The governorship of Pedro Peralta.
According to the only source avallable on the period,

the "True Account of Fr. Perez Guerta,'l? the trouble began

when the prelacy was taken by Fray Ordonez on the basis of--
Guerta contends--a forged letter. Not long after this there

appeared a document, a Royal Provision, which vermitted any

goldier or colonlst to return to New SBpailn if he so desired.
This wes in 1612, and ot this date there was certainly no
great attraction in New Mexico. The settlement had received
help end reinforcement since the criticasl years before 1608,
but many would have been glad to leave. The result was that
meny did leave and the colony wes weakened. Ordonez had the
upper hand asnd Peraelta did not know quite how to handle the
problem.

Ordonez then raised complaints about the treatment

Indians were getting, and told Peralta to feed and care for

195choles glves this work as the chief source for the
first major controversy between church and state 1in New
Mexico: "Relacion Verdadera %. el pe predicador fr. FranCo®
Perez guerta de la orden de SV fran®® guardian del conuento
de galistec higo al RWO Comiss® Genl de la dha orden de la
nueba espa de las cosas succedidas en el nuebo MexCO por los
encuentros que tubleron do Pedro de Peralta gor de la dha
prouyé y fr fr yeidro ordonez Commiss® de los fralles de la
diche orden de 8% Frco q. residen en ella (1617?), Archivo
General y Piblico de las Nacion, Mexico." Scholes, op. gik.,

p. 50.
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them, Peralte reluctantly made a few moves, tried to modify

gome of the sbuse, and gave them some food (which came from
the Indian tribute); but too little was availlable.

¥1ith the next major 1incident the conflict between
these two developed into a feud. Peralta sent a verty of
soldiers to Temos to collect tribute from them. But Ordonez
heard of this, intercepted the party, and countermanded

Peralta's order on the baglas of a new Annovetion--his claim

RSt Cr s .

to Inquisitorial powers. When Peralta sgeln sent the sol-
diers off to Taos Ordonez excommunicated nin® snd threatened
fo do the same to any who took his side in the affair. Fray
Tirado of Santa Fe by this time had switched to the prelate's
side, 28 dld most of the Spanish population. The governor's
attempta'at repriaal were met by threats of force, and a
victory was won; absolution was granted.

Soon a series of incldents started things off again,
however--g fight between a servant and a Svenlard, a 4dif-
ference over inclusion of certsin Indians in & levy of work-
ers, and a "personal protest to Mexico City" by Peralta, in
connection with which Ordonez received an insult. After
this, on the following Sunday, Peralta's chalr was put out-

gide the church, and Ordonez directed his sermon at the

207erme of Peralta's absolution were payment of fifty
vesog, performance of migerere at the church door, a promlse
of obedience, and observsnae by Peralta of the penitential
mase, barefoot and with a lighted candle in hils hand.



88
governor (who had the chair quickly replaced inszide the
church). In this sermon it seemed as though for a short
while the medieval vapacy had been reestablished in New

Mexico.

Do not be deceived. Let no one persusde you with vain
wordse that I do not have the same power and authority
that the Pope in Rome has, or that if his Holiness were
(here) in New Mexico he could do more than I. Believe
(ye) that I can arreet, cast into irons, and punish as
geemg Titting to me any person without any exception
who is not obedlent to the commandmentz of the Church
and mine. Yhat I have %old you, I say for the benefit
of a certain person who 18 listening to me who perhaps
relses hils eyebrows. May God grent that affairs may
not come to this extremity.Z2l
Another controversy soon came up concerning the way in
which tithes were to be collected, and Peralta ordered
Ordofiez to return to hils church at Sento Dominge. A melee
followed, in which & pistol was fired and a frlar and an
armorer were wounded, But by this time, the governor could
do nothing with Ordonez; his power was decreasing and the
prelate's wes increasing. Just before he was replaced sa
governor, Peralta was imprisoned in one of the convents by
Ordonez, who was in complete control of the province, and
engaging in sueh things ae sendlng military expeditions,
punishing lawbreakers (he had an Indian murderer hanged),
and imprisoning friars who opposed him. GCovernor Ceballos
(Zaballos) replaced Peralta, and though he was not as pli-

able as his predecessor, he was soon intimidated by Ordolez,

2lgcholes, op. eit., p. 31.
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and relatlions between the two quickly descended to the
former level.

The friars who opposed Ordonez were having their own
trouble Just in getting a message out of the country without
The prelate's knowledge. VWhen they filnally esucceeded, this
weas discovered and they were forced to send a second one
which disclesimed the statements of the first. By this tine
these relligious had concluded thet Ordofiez's patent as prel-
ate was forged. Soon, however, Fray Guerta managed to esgcape
from New Mexicc and reached Mexico City with his Relaciéﬁ.

By 1618 the Fray Ordonez was removed from the province and
disclplined in Mexlco Clty. He was released but nothing is
known of what became of him,

Whether or not Cuerta's sccount 1s rellable 1ln 1ts de-
tails is debateble, but the fact remalns that the friar-
prelate Ordonez took virtusl control of the provinece, im-
prisoned the governor, and assumed the authority of the in-
quisition unlewfully. The "Perelta incident was never for-
gotten. It poiscned relations between Church and State at
a time when friendly cooperation wes so essential." This
was the turbulent beginning of a turbulent era, and as
dsmaging as it was to the 1life and health of the colony, it
was even more damaging to the mission work of the Franclscans.
Obviously the Indians would not be inclined toward the preach-
ing end teaching of the fathers when such rampant violence

filled the friars' own community.

1 | 1 10 Tl
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The bad example glven to the Indlans by the Soanlards'
feuds was not the worst hindrance %o mlssion work, however.
There were more direct oﬁstmcles than that, such =8 the poor
treetment of the Indlans by the Spanish, governors and
others. The men who succeeded Ceballos was Juan de Eulate,
who (according to the friars) was strongly anti-clerical in
attitude and denocunced, derided and opposed the church's
work.22 He refused to ald the friars in controlling the In-
dians, and rather encouraged the Indians in thelr paganism,
promisging freedom to follow the "old order" of witcheraft
and sorcery, and he generally opposed misslon discipline.
The prelate 2t thls time was Fray ﬁsteban Perea., Perea
gathered evidence against Eulate and celled for a formal
investigetion, charging him with unorthodoxy, mistreatlng
Indians' religious and social 1life, exploiting the Indlans,
and snslaving unconverted tribes (which the Spanish were
supposed to leave entirely alone untll after thelr conver-
sion).

Apparently Eulate was required to change some poliecies,
at least to a certain extent (as even the friars admitted).23
But another result of Perea's petitlon was his own replace-
ment by Fray Miguel de Chavarr{a, who immedlately tried to

smooth out the relations.

221p1d., p. 69.
231pid., p. 80.
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Nevertheless, the exploitstion of the Indians by
Eulate and by the soldlers and other Spanlish settlers con-
tlnued. ©GScholes says thaet the governor's liberaliity with
regard to native customs was inspired only with the purpose
of "attracting the natives to the side of civil authority”
80 as to make thelr exploltation easier., Then he goes on
and tells of ways in which this was dcne. The Indians were
forced to work on the farms of colonists without pay, being
often rounded up in groups of forty or even one hundred;
They were used 1n carrying wood, cergo, and tributes, 1in
oppoeition to the royal poliecy and in spite of the avall-
ability of horses; slave ralds were made on some nomadic
tribes which were unconverted but pesceful, and the slaves

were used es day laborers or sold in New Spain; vales (per-

mits) were glven by Eulate which authorized soldiers to take
orphans from converted pueblos to serve 1ln Spanlsh homes;
and frequently the soldiers' rancherfﬁs were loocated so
cloge to the pueblos "that they encroached on the flelds

and grazing land of the Indlans. "2}

In many weys 1t is amazing that any work at 21l could
be done amongst the Indians, with such conditions prevail-
ing. Also, there is little wonder that the frilars proteated
so loudly.

The viceroy did not feel perfectly sympathetic wlth

2%1pid., pp. T72f.
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such statements as Perea mad¢, however, and may have been
suepicloua of the complainta, in view of the Ordonez affair
not long past. In his letter to Perea he says that the
prelates have often been "imprudent" and have exceeded theilr
authority. The substance of the letter 1s that Perea and
his brothers are to concern themselves with ecclesiastical
matters--and only ecclesiastical punishments of lay people.
The viceroy Had at least received reports that the friars
were overstepping their boundaries agaln.25

Then the viceroy sent the Instructions of 1621 to the

New Mexican gsettlement. These were in part clearly aimed at
the friars, but their purpose was to generally relieve ften-
sions.

1. In the first of the Instructions the order was
given that when local pueblo officlals were elected there
should be no one present either from the state or from the
clergy. Thle at least indicates that the Indlans were per-
mitted some rights; they were able to choose their local
governors‘and fiscals. But given in this way the regulation
also indicates that even that was not without pressures from
one party or another. The countercharges which made this
regulation necessary were that "the clergy had complained
that the governor tried to impose his will in such electlons

in order to further his own selfish ends." On the other

251pid.
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hand, the eivil leaders had charged "that the custodian and
other frisre had given the Indians to understand that their
euthority was superior to that of the governor."

2., The next contained the implication that perhaps
the friars were too involved in secular affairs, or at least
that they were somewhat remiss in seeing to their duties.

It was stated that on Suridays and on feast days the friars
should go to the pueblos in which there were churches, #so
that the Indians would be spared the trouble of golng to
distant pueblos to hear mass."

3. From the third "Instructlion’ something can be seen
of the friars' objection to the encomienda. Their continual
opposition to the tribute requirement, apparently was not
only in words or on paper, but in more concrete forms. Here
they are directed "not to impede the c¢cllection of such
tribute." The stipulation is added, however, that this
only appliss to pueblos already subject to tribute, and that
future conversions of pueblos were to be subjeet to tribute
only after governor, custodian end guardlan of the convent
had submitted reports to the viceroy. (Also, there was to
be no tribute taken from the Hepi and Zuni puebles, still
unconverted. Very likely this had been triled.)

I, Wilitary escort was to be provided by the encomen-
deros for mission supply trains and for missionaries'
travels.

5 and 6. Objections were frequently made to the
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governor's herds of livestock, since he received a regular
galary; the Instructions forbade thlg. And in view of the
complaints that the Spaniards’ livestock roamed up to the
very edge of the pueblo, and trampled the Indians' crops,
they were by these regulations ordered to keep livestock at
least three lesgues from the pueblos.

7. This regulation was to oppose the common abuses of
Indian lsbor, such ss unlimited levies of laborers for all
imaginable kinds of work, and often without pay. Hereafter
the governor and custodian were to see that levies of labor-
ers were to be only for sowing and planting, with limited
numbers taken from each pueblo, and with wages given to all.
The Spaniards were forbidden to take Indlan women "unless
‘they go with their husbands (and) volunterily.'®™ And one

of the loudest objections of governors and encomendercs was

recognlized by thls regulation which stated that the cus-
todian's use of Indian labor was to be limited; "Indian
labor at the missions should be used only 'for things neces-
gary for the church and the convenience of the living quar-
ters,' and then only 'with the greatest moderation.'®

8. The last regulation shows some of the diseciplinary
measures used by the friars to bring the Indians into sub-
mission %o "the church and salvation." For "errors and
l1ight faults® the friars had made a practice of cutting the
hair of the guillty Indians. This was a terrible inauil to

them and had caused some of them "to llve in the unconverted
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pueblo of ﬁcoma, 'returning to 1dolatry. ' n26

From the content of this document some of the most im-
portant complelnts of both parties can be deduced, as well

aa an idea of some of the treatment which the "pacified®

Indlan nations were receiving.

Such measures as the Instructions were the result of

civil =zction; 1t was the viceroy who sent them to New Mexico
and said that they muet be followed. However, the church

was not inactive in all this, and though Perea had been re-

lieved of his position as prelate, his complaeints were not
ignored. Finally, in 1623, Fray Benavides was sent to New
Mexlco by the Holy Office of the Inquigition to hold an in-
vestigation; he succeeded Fray Chavarr{a ag prelate as well,
thus combining the two offices. After being recelived by the
governor, Benavideg held some hearings, and listened tec many
complaints. The result was that a strong case was bullt
against former governor Eulate, and Fray Perea was supported.
Eulate's only punishment, though, seems %to have been a fine
for bringing Indlans to New Spain to be sold as slaves (and
for bringing cargo in the government's wagons, free of duty).
He was also required to pay for their return to New Mex?co.
Perea, having reached Mexico City, was reinstated, and gent
back a8 Commissary of the Holy Offlce.

During Benavides' stay in New Mexico as missionary and

26Ib1g., pp. 78f. Scholes summarizes the Instructions.
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custodian of the order he had sufficlent opportunity to be-
come familliar with all of the »nractices of the authorilties

and the sncomenderos, and the resulting condition of the

natives, Included in his Memorial of 1634 were statements
relating to the New Mexico situation and petitions to the
king to relieve some of the pains and trials of the Indians.
In one of his petitions he begins by saying that the answer
most often glven by the Indians when asked why they do not
become Christiens is that "when they do become Christians
they are at once compelled to pay tribute and render per-
sonal service." Naturally they find it much more fto their
advantage to remaln pagan. For thie reason, Benavidea asks

that they may not in any way be compelled to rendsr any
personal service or ovay any tribute until {ten years
after completion of the baptism of the converted na-
tion, as has been ordered in many royal cedulas . . .
exempting . . . from the sald personal servigce and
tribute all the cacigues and prineipal pecple, to-~
gether with thelr households, and likewise all ths
Indians engaged in divine service in the churches and
convents, and all the ministers of Jjustice engaged 1n
the service of your Mejesty and of their republie.

and that the encomenderos be forced to comply with this and

to treat well the natives in their service and in collecilon
of tribute.27

The results of this petition were direct and immediate.
In 1635 the viceroy and other goverﬁment officials recelved

s gedula from the king which restated Benavides' requests

2740dge, Hsmmond, end Rey, op. git., pp. 176f.
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and granted them. The king's "wish and aim being, above all
things, the conversion of the sald natives,” he ordered that
Indlens who are converted and submit to the Spanish crown

are not to be

required to pay any tribute or be asked to give any

other personal service for & period of ten years, and

that the caciques 2nd leaders, together with their

families, and other Indlans employed in the churches

for the divine cult . . . are to be relieved for life

of the sald tributes or services.?28

Spain was far away, though, and New Spain and Mexico
City were months of travel sway from Santa Fe. It was not
et all difficult therefore to find ways of getting around
even roysal cedulas; and sometimeg these may heve been
easler to circumvent, frequently being very general in na-
ture.

There were other ways of making a proflt in New Mexico,
however, without even directly opposing royal cedulzas.

/

Francisco Maertinez de Baeza, governor from Hovember 1634 to
Aprll 1637, was imaginative encugh that he soon was "or-
ganizing trading ventures and exploiting Indian labor" ac-
cording to reports of the clergy. Scholes desorlbes some

of Baeza's methods:

He imposed a heavy burden of labor on the Indians, for
which they received only a fraction of the wage due.

28Ibid., p. 187, from "The King to the Viceroy of New
Spvain Concerning Payment of TIribute by Converted Indians,
30 Januasry, 1635," and “The King . . . Marquis of Cerralvo,
my kinsman, viceroy, governor and captaln general of New
Spain, or to the person or persons in charge of 1ts govern-
ment. "
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Some were forced to gather pinon, which they carried
in on thelr own backs to Baeza's warehouse; others

were sent out to trade for hides; in all of the pueblos
the Indlans were forced to weave and paint great guan-
tities of mantssg, bunting, and hangings, and some of
the pueblos that dld not relse enough cotton '"to cover
thelr own nakedness" were obliged to barter with other
villages for the cotton needed. The prices pald for
the finlshed goodes represented only one-sixth or one-
eighth of the current local vslues. By the end of 1636
Baeza had accumulated sueh large dquantities of pinon,
hides, and locally manufactured goods that nine wagon
loads were made ready for transportation to New Spain.29

!
,
‘,

Thus the New Mexico settlements continued, in tension and
conflict, with the clergy on one side, the civil offlicials
on the other, and the Indians usually in between, definitely
the most seriously afflicted in all of this.

The opposition of the clergy %o such abuses 4dld more
harm than it did good, in respect to the local reactlion
among Spanish officials. VWhen such officlals were criti-
elzed, they very quickly retorted with complaints about the
way in which the friars used the Indians to bulld convents
and churches, to service and maintain them, to tend live-
stock, and in general to perform chores which seemed gquite
unspiritusl. After such complaints, the Spanish officlals
then felt better about taking advantage of the Indlans. A
formal complaint was made on such an occaslon by the Spanish
gabildo of Santa Fe, in which he became quite specific. For
one thing, the friars had thousands of head of stock on

pueblo ranges, and according to this officisl, this was many

29$choles, op. cit., pp. 106f.
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more than privete citizens had., Here the game suggestion

wag made as The frisrs had made earlier concerning the gov-
ernor's stock: since the clergy was suppvorted by the Crown,
it was unnecessary and unwise that they keep csattle. The
suggestion was made that their herds be divided among the
poor. The frisrs were critleized for using Indians to cook,
carry wood, grind corn, or herd cattle. They were criticlzed
for possessing toec many horses and toc many weapons (shields,

swords, srquebuses, plstols). They were sald to have far

more of the latter than even the soldlers. The cabildo's
suggestion wes that such unnecessary vossesslions of the
friers be deposited in the Royal House, 30

The ¢ablldo's complaint does more than point up some
excesses of the fathers, or give an excuse for civilian and
military exploitation. I% reflects some of the power which
the church had in the colonies, in gpilte of the handlcap
that 1% recelved when the Spenish civil government was given
ite jurisdiction over certsin areas of the church. The
clergy were sble to exert a great amount of pressure upon
all the Spanish inhabitants, particularly by two weapons,
the power of excommunicaticn, and the power of the Inquisi-
tion. The church was also controlled by only one order,
and the people hed no place to aﬁpeal except to the church

in "fapr-off Mexico" or to the governor, as Scholes points

301p14., pp. 130f. i
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out. {And the governors had their own problems with the
Inquisition and threats of excommunicatlon.)31

Whatever the other results of this clerical powsr msy
have been, it seems certain that it did not free the In-
dianes from the effects of the Spanieh greed. Perhaps there
were even ways in which the clergy, with their sometimes
effective opposition of the governors and the resulting
battles and scandsle, greatly hindered their own work.

The Indians figured in the next major clash in much the
same wey as before. In 1637 the governorship of Luls de
Rosssg, which in about four years led up to 2 virtual civil
wapr in 1641, complete with intrigue, an assassination, and
e multiple exzecution.

Rogas continued the exploitation policies of his pred-
ecessor, with an Indlan workshop at Santa Fe, and trading
posts at the frontier pueblos, and with Indian labor used
everywhere. The clergy as usual made their complaints but
they were not% alone; many of the military sided with them.

Captain Francisco de S5slszer accused Rosas of making unjust

31There were sctually three independent powers in New
¥exico to uphold the chureh's interests in the feud with
the government. The custodian had powers of local prelate
( excommuniestion, absolution, the sacraments, eccleslasti-
cal process, and passing of sentence). The Commissary of
the Holy Office of the Inquisition had powers of investlga-
tion, searching for heresy or related sins, and summoning
witnesses for almost any distance. In addition te these
wap the Crusade, with independent authority, subject only
to the Tribunal at Mexieo City. Ibid., p. 129.
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war egainst the Utacas, who had not bothered either pueblos
or Spaniards; gome of these were killed, some captured and
put to forced labor.’2 There were complaints also about
Rosas' fallure to punish some Apaches who had been troubling
the pueblos, and also about his treachery against certain
peaceful Apaches.
There 1s a description of Rosas' action in a mission
trip to an unconverted area:
As soon as the party arrived in the Ipotlapigua afea he
LRosas] forgot his duty toward the friars and the mis- |
sicn and made all sorts of unjust demands on the In- ”
dians. He forced them to bring in feathers and hides,
robbed them of their clothing, even the garments that ;
covered thelr nakedness, and threatened to burn their g
villages if they did not comply with his demands, The |
protests of the friars were without avall. Rosas con-
tinued to follow hls policy of extortion, and the In-
dians, who had seemed willing enough to listen to the
teachinge of the friaras, fled to the mountains when
they realized the nature of Rosas' motives,33
During the four years of Fesas' governorship, the situa-
tion developed to the point of bresking, with a strong anti-
Rosas party consisting of friars, soldlers, encomenderos, and
civiliane. Finelly, in 1641 Rosas wae killled by e soldier
called Ortiz, who returned from Mexico te find his wife at
Rosas' place. Rosas had been excommunicated and was burled
in a fleld; Ortiz was tried, freed at Santa Fe, then sen-

tenced at Parral (near the later El Paso) by governor

321p3d., p. 118, from "Petition of Salazar, July 5,
1641,

331pia., pp. 119f.
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Valdez; he escaped, but was eventually captured and put to
death. Scholes goes into the matter of whether or not
Ortiz's wife was a part of a plot to kill Rosas, and gives
strong evidencs to support this view.

The situation was temporarily calmed when Pscheco ¥y
Heredia, the governor from 1642 to 1650, took matters in
hand. He seems to have been quite shrewd, and also per-
suaglve; he successfully appeased both factions. Rosas'
bones were even absolved by the clergy, and gliven military
burial. Immediately after this, however, strong measures
were taken on July 21, 1643 when after a seoret investige-
tion the above-mentioned Selazar, and seven others were
tried and beheaded; others inveolved were pardoned. Perhaps
not too surprisingly, everyone acknowledged the justice and
approprinteness of Pacheco's action; especlally the Indlans

were impressed with this swift justice. For a while, New

Mexico was settled and quiet; the custodian's sermon promised

loyalty even to teking up arms for royal service. Probably
Pacheco's upholding the Franciscans despite their record of
opposition to Rosas brought this aboui; he claimed that the
friares were intimidated by the soldlers.3u

with the struggles of the past forty years still fresh
in most minds, however, and the basle 1lssues still quite un-

resolved, péace could net last long; and it d4id not. On

3M1p1a., pp. 180f.
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August 18, 1643 several soldlers, one a captain, called to-
gether the Indians of Santo Demingo (not very far from Santa
Fe) and read an order "forbidding any Indlan, on pain of
death, to do anything commended by the custodian and other
Triars of ths convent." This wae done bw'command of gov-
ernor Pacheoo. Fray Covarrublas describes The rather piti-
able state which followed:

This caused such scandal and fesr in these wretched In-

dians, men and women, boys end girls, that they walked

about as 1f dazed, and they withdrew to thelr corn-

fields, and other places. Not s single person was fte
be seen in the plazes and houses; and when they came,
it wes wlth great secrecy, as if 1t were 2 matter of

life and death to be seen by the friars., . . .33

Any svccese in preaching to Indians who were in such a
state would be quite mirsculous; it is not surprising that
the church wae not actually taking hold in New Hexlco. And
again, the feud was renewed.

There were s8till other abuses pervetrated against the
Indians, which Benavides brings up in some of his petitlons
te the king. One of these was the practice of the encomen-
deros of requiring tribute from their Indians on an indi-
vidual baslis, instead of on the basis of thelr dwellings.
¥ith this arrangement, the Indians were required to pay

even Af for one reason or another they lost their houses. 36

351b1d.. p. 184, Covarrublas %o Salvatierra.

36Hodga, Hammond, asnd Rey, op. git., Appendix XVI A,
p. 170.
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In another petition, Benavides asks that the Indians be
free to live where they please, and not be forced by the

encomendero to live where he wishes. 7

A common sbuse in New Hexlieco apparently was the prac-
tice of granting land for grazing or farming to the Spanish;
the way in which it was done amounted %o simple stealing

from the Indians.

These grants are made secretly so that when the poor
Indlens want to return to their lands the Spanlards are
already in possessgion of them, and from there they ex-

prand and add to thelr lande more than was given to them.

They force the Indians, by evil treatment and by losses
to their cattle, tc ebandon thelr lands and te leave
their possessions to the Spaniards,3€

A complaint was elso made about the governor's taking the
best lands, and selling the cattle, whlich were so necessary
for the colony, in New Spain.

Finally, in regerd to captured Indlans from unconverted
tribes Benavides asks that these "not be gliven as slaves or
sentenced to personzl service outside New Mexico." Much
better would be to place them in the convents for a tlme,
that they could return to their people and tell them of good
treatment, and of Christianlty.

He also asked

that the Spanish governors be forbldden from depriving

any native Indian chief of his post or authority, be-
cause of the fact that the Indlans greatly resent

371p1g., p. 170.
3®1paa., p. 172

- i
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seeing their leaders and chieftains mistreated.3?
The Pueblo Revelt of 1680

It muast not be sssumed that during the ten decades of
intra-colonial rivalry and exploitation of the Indians
there was nothing but quiet submission on the part of the
native population. There were fairly frequent outbreaks
and several attempts 2% revelt on a larger-than-local seceale.
But in each case the Spanish military force was able to keep
things in hand and effectively to punish the offenders guite
promptly.

In 1680, however, the rebellious pueblo nations could
not be controlled. Their uprising was, for these veople,
amszingly well organized, and of such strength and extent
that the Spanish military were unable to do any‘more than
protect themselves and most of their fellow ceolonists.

According to most reports, the chief instigator of the
revolt was an Indian called Popg, a medicine man who had
very recently been released from captivity and punlshment
by the Spanish government. He claimed to be directed by
three infernal spirits and moved by supernatural powers; in
this he wes readily believed and his plans met with an eager
acceptance.

Preparations for the revolt were very secretly made and

391pad., p. 171
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information was gquickly spread from pueblo te pueblo through-
out the province at regular intervals. The revolt was Tirst
set for August 173, but information lesked out to the Span-
1sh and on the night of the 9th the final word was sent to
all the nations that daybreak on the 10th was the new time.
And so it happened, Begilnning at Taos, and nearly simul-
taneously in surrounding areas, the Indlans attacked the
misalons and rancherf;s. The revolt spread to Santa Fe--
where the Tewas, Taos and Plcurfs began e slege and were
soon Jjoined by other war parties. After the Tirst dsy of
revolt thirty lesgues of the center of the orovince, along
both sildee of the Rio del Norte, were held by the Indlans,
with two groups of Spanish refugees fortified at elther end.
Governor Otermfn with about one fthousand people was located
at Santa Fe and lieutenant governor Garcla, wlth about
fifteen hundred refugees, was situated in the south at
Isleta. It is estimated that at the time of the revolt
there were from twenty-eight hundred to three thousand Span-
ish (including Mexicans, Mestizos, ete.) in New Mexico. Of
these about 380 were sald to have been killed, during the
first stages of the revolt. In addition, the friars num-
bered about thirty-three; and twenty-one of these were killed.
The outlying pueblos, and those in the pert of the province
where the uprieing began, were the most severely hit; at
Taos sixty-eight of seventy Spaniards were killed during the

early hours of August 10.
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After the colonists reached the fortifications at
Santa Fe and Isleta, however, there were hardly any losses.
Many Indians were killed during the slege of Santa Fe, but
not more than five Spanlards died. As was so often the
case in fighting between Bpanish and Indlans, the lack of
oerganization on the part of the Indians kept them from
bringing about the complete masssore which they desired.
This possibly had as much effect as their lack of firearms.

A great deal of deseription could be given of the siege
of Banta Fe, 1ts abandonment and the march down the river
toward HMexico, but this 1s not necessary for the purposes of
This paper. The two groups of refugees were completely cut
off from one another, and the Indians spread rumeors at
Sante Fe and at Islets, saying %o each group that the other
had been completely wiped out. Independently the refugee
columns moved down the river, constantly harrassed by In-
dians, until they made contact and finally met a short dls-
tance north of E1 Paso del Norte. ITroubles of all xinds
plagued them during the next months and years, as some
deserted to Mexico, some planned to return to New Mexlco,
and a majority settled at the pass of the Rio Grande. The
intention was that this be temporary, but 1# turned out
that the settlement, near the present El Paso, was permanent.

An attempt was made thevfollawing year by Oterm{h to
recapture New Mexico, but after a few very short-lived peace

treaties, and after the burning of many empty pueblos, the
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emall Spanish army retrested to E1 FPaso. Threatening rumors

followed them 511 the way.“o

ffter elghty-two years of occupation and mission work,
and with an estimated sixteen thoueand Christian Indlans
(until the revolt) in 1680 in New Mexico, the Bpaniards
left the country for some twelve years, with something less
than five hundred Indians in their company, who either chose
to remain friends of the Spanish or perhaps who simply did
not feel like fighting.

The attitude of the Spanish, both government and
clergy, toward the matter of governing and pacifying the
indians was basically this: simple force, always presgent

end applied at the right time, with quick vunishments for

2ll ingubordinstion. Thle was the complete answer to 211

i 4°Charles Willeon Hackett, editor, Revolt of the Pueblo
ndiasng of New Mexico and Otermin's Attempted Recondquest,
1680-1682, in Coronado Historical Series (Albuquerque:
University of New Mexico Press, 1942), VIII, 1ff. The docu-
ments translnted end published in this work by Hackett are
the basic and moet important primary sources for the pueblo
revolt, Hackett'e work was based on a transcript in his
own possession, but the original documents are located in
Mexico Clty, in two sections. The documents on the revolt
are Auttos tocantes gl Alsamiento de Los Yndlosg de la
Provincia de 1a Nueba Mexico, Archivo General y Publico,
Mexlco, Secclon de Provincias Internas, Tomo 37. Hackett,
op. e¢it., VIII, 3, note 1. The documents on the first at-
tempt 8t recongquest are Autos Perteneclentes a el slca-
miento [sic] de los Yndios de La Provineia del Nuebo Mexico
Y la entrada, Y subcesos de ella se hico para su recuperacion,
Archivo General y Pﬁblico, Mexico, Seccion de Provinclas
Internas, Tomo 34, Charles Wilson Hackett, e?ltor, Bevolt
of the Pueblo ..__l_g_lnd ans of New Mexico and Otermin's Attempted
Regconquest, 1680-1682, in Coronado Historical Seriles
(Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press, 1942), IX,

183, note 1.
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problems. After the revolt the attitude was the same, and
everyone felt that by sending the army beck, and making re-
orisals in the proper places, the province could be returned
to Spanish power, and the Indlans to their former place. On
fthe first attempt at reconquest, Oterm{h was more than will-
ing to have the prieste grant absolution to any repentant
Indians; he was also willing to 1limit punishments to a
relative few Indlan leaders. But the important thing was
thet the Spanish government and arms be once more estab-
lished as the controlling force in the province, =nd the
Indians made subservient.

Vhat Oterm{n found was qulte different. Except for a
Tew stray Indiasns and an occasional war party in the dis-
tance, the entire country and all the pueblos were deserted.
Spanish power was definitely not in control of New Mexlco,
but the Indiens atill fled. They were content to have as
little to do with this power, and with the Spaniards them-
selves, a8 posslble.

Occasionally, as Otermfn moved from one deserted pueblo
to another, an Indian would join the group, or would be
captured. It was from thése that much of the information
on the revolt was received, at the investigations and court
sessione which Gterm{h held. One of the common reactions
from these captives was to give some sort of excuse or exX-
planstion of their particular position. One, for example,

excused himeelf and others, saying
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that what he knows concerning this question 1s that
not all of them joined the sald rebellion willingly;
that the chief mover of it is an Indian who 18 a native
of the pueblo of San Juan, named E1 Popé, gnd that from

feer of this Indian all of them Jjeined in the plot that
he made.4l

Another one was asked why he ran away from his Spanish
master, and went to live with the rebels. He answered that
he was hungry where he was and sc when urged by a friend to
leave for = while, "so 28 to find out how matters stood
with the Indians and to give warning to the Spaniards of
any treascn," he did so. He carefully explained that it
wae not his intentlion to stay with the apostates. ¥“hen they
killed hise ccompanion, he stayed, until he saw the Spaniards
return; then he came to warn the Spanlards to be careful
with their horses, so that the rebels did not stesl them.42
It seems gafe to assume thet this Indian, Josevhe, was a
8py, ag were others who wandered up to the Spanish camps
during this expedition; the contrivances and loopheles 1n
his story together with the feet thet he later disappeared
gupport uhis.

Yet snother story along the same line was told by a

captured Indian, who said that he had left the casas reales

and Jjoined with the rebels because he felt that the

51 i .
Ibid., IX, 233, from "Declaration of the Indian
Juan, (Place on %he Hio del Norte, 18 December, 1681).a

L2 . e Spanish-
Ibid., p. 238, from "Dsclaration of Josephe, Spa
speaking Indisn (Place of the Rio del Norte, December 19,
1681)."
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Spaniards would be killed; and if "they should happen not
fo be defeated, they would probably take him toc some other
country, snd he did not wish to leave thls one.” Then,
llkely to give himself a more favorable position, he told
some thingas about the revolt, who were some of the lmpor-
tant tribes, and what their plans were for the Spanish.!3

There were not only excuges such as these given at the
investigations conducted by Otermfﬁ, however. Some of the
Indians spoke out concerning the treatment which they had
recelved in the peat, and told why everyone had revolted.
Josephe, for one, sald that the leaders of the insurrection
had sc acted beozuse of "1ll treatment and injuries" from
certsin officiale, “because they beat them, took what they
had, and made them work withecut pay."”u

Another Indlan, Pedro Garcla, testified that the trea-
son and rebellion hsd been plotted

because they wers tired of the werk they had to do for

the Spenilards and the religlous, because they did not

allovw them to plant or do other things for their own

needs; and that, being weery, they had rebelled.X5

Resentment and hatred for the Spanish was also held be-

cause of their treatment of Indilan belliefs and practices.

431p14, , VIII, 20, from "Declaration of an Indian
rebel, (Place of the Arroyo de San lMarcos, August 23, 1680)."

Blypig., IX, 239, from "Declaration of Josephe."
451psa., VIII, 23f., from "Declaration of Pedro Garcia,

an Indian of the Tagno natign, a nation of Las Sallnas
(Neer the estancis of Cristébal ds Anaya, August 25, 1680)."
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Another native NWew Mexican, Pedro Nanboa gald

that ths resentment which all the Indisns have in
thelr hearts has been 2o strong, from the time this
kingdom wpa discovered, because the religlious and the
Zpeaniards took away thelr idecls and forvade thelr sor-
cerlies and ldolatries; that they have inherited suc-
cesslvely frcm thelr o0ld men the things pertaining te
thelir anclent customs; and that he has heard thles re-
sentment gspoken of since he was of an age to under-
stand. 46

Perhaps the besgt indicatlon of the lecng-repressed
feelings of these people can be seen in conneection with
Their ireatment of the Spanish churches, convents, and re-

V4
ligious objects. Everywhere Otermin's party went, they
found evidences of desecrations of religious articles and
places and signs of the Indians' immediate return to the
old ways (masks, ornaments, trinkete, rock-piles, and newly-
built estufes).

The statement by Josephe containg much informatlion as
to what the Indians d4id and said even while the villa at
Santa Fe was beling besleged.

the rebelllous traltors burned the church and shouted

in loud voices, "Now the God of the Spanlerds, who was

their father, is deed, and Santa Maria, who was thelr
mother, and the ssintg, who were pleces of rotien wood , !
saying that only their own god lived. Thus they or-
dered all the temples and images, orosges and rosaries
burned, and this function being over, they 2ll went to
bathe in the rivers, saying that they thereby washed
awey the water of baptism. For thelr churches, they

placed on the four sides and in the center of the plaza
some smell ciroculsr enclosures of stone where they went

461p4a., pp. 60f,, from "Declarstion of one of the
rebellious Chrietian Indians who was captiured on the road
(Plece of E1 Alamillo, September 6, 1680)."*
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to offer flour, feathers, and the seed of maguey,
maize, and tobacco, and performed other superstitious
rites, glving the children to understaend that they
must all do this in the future. The captains and
chiefs ordered that the names of Jesus and of Mary
should nowhere be uttered, and that they should dis-
card their baptismel nameeg, end abandon the wives whom
God had given them in matrimony, and take the ones
that they pleased. He saw that as soon as the remain-
ing 3panlards had left, they ordersed all the estufas
erected, which are their houses of idolatry, and danced
throughout the kingdom the dance of the cazina, making
many masks for it in the lmage of the devil. Thus he
replied to this question.
An earlier statement, made by the cabildo of Santa Fe,
Just after the escape from New Mexico, also shows some of
fhe Indlans' contemot for the Svanlards' religion. In this
statement he says that they went to such extremes that at
Sendia pueblo there were images of gaints found among ex-
orement, two chalices found in a besket of manure, a carved
crucifix with paint and varnish taken off by lashes, and
excrement at the main eltsr near the holy communion table. X8
Any thought of the Spanish that the Indlans might re-
nent and settle down once more in thelr pueblos was very
wrong. Not only did they compietely abandon their pueblos
/
when Otermin returned in the fall of 1681, but they re-
mained in the mountains, freezing and nearly starving,

through the extremely hard winter that followed. To return

“7Ib1d., IX, 239f., from "Declaration of Josephe."

481914, , VIII, 177f., from "Opinion of the cabildo of
Santa Fe. La Salineta, October 3, 1680, "
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and live under their conquerors again wsas unthinkable.*9
There were attempts to deceive Oterm{n's force by a
felgned repentance, but information escaped to the Spanish
and nothing came of the Indlana' plans, When Mendoze, the
governor's lieutenant, was on an inspection of some of the
pueblos, there took place a shouted council of peace. (The

Indians refused to come close.) The gargento mayor shouted,

"“Praised be the most holy sacrament!" At this 1t 1s said
that

the apostates shouted three times in reply, many of
them in tears, "Forever!*" At this moment a Pecurile
Indian and others, dropping their arms, came down
without them to embrace the sald Diego Lucerc and two
or three other Spaniarde who were with him. . . .
The rejolcing and displays of affection spread and a recon-
cllliation seemed to be taking place. The leaders, such as
/
Alonso Catitil only expressed fears that the Spanlards would
be unforgiving. Then these leaders left, seylng that they
were going to bring their people back from the mountains. 50
But it seemed that nothing that wes sald ever happened,
and an air of uncertainty continued to build wherever the
Spanish parties went. Then various reports and rumors

7
reached the camps, such as Catiti's plan to send women %o

kgIb;d., IX, 302, from "({Declaration) of Diego Lopez
(Sembrano., Heclenda of Luls de Carbajal, December 22, 1681)."

501bid., pp. 272f., from "Declaration of the Sargento
mayor Sebastian de Herrers (Place of Rio del Norte, December
21, 1égr). "
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the soldlers, and then ettack them during the night, or
other rumore that the Indians were walting to catch the
Bpanlsh offguard so as to capture thelir horses, and then
wateh them starve trylng to escape. ZEvents such as these
e
before long revealed to Otermin and his men Jjust how re-
pentant these Indians were.
There were differences of opinion asz to what steps
/
should next be taken, but most of Otermin's offlicers felt
that the situation was beyond thelr control at that time,
end that retreet to lexico was the only logical move. Even
the once-optimisgtic friars felt that nothing could be ac-
complished by remalning. Father Ayeta, who had not been
working in New Mexico, but who had covered the whole ter-
ritory along with the army on this reconquest attempt, held
2 rether hopeless view. He submitted a lengthy report
(eight folios) saying that he did not believe that there
could be any more punishment given aend that all The initlal
£
hopes which Otermin had held were unfcunded. Hackett sum-
marizes Ayeta's report, which reveals the reasons for whlch
this immediate reconquest had been attempled.
The Apaches had not destroyed a single pueble nor done
the spostates notable damage, notwithstanding that the
two tribes were then at war. [2] The Pueblos had not
been found desirous of deserting thelr own domineering
chieftains, and “This hope remains disintegrated and
geems uncertain." [3] They had not experienced stings
of conscience as repentant Chrigtians, for, “at the
date of this writing it has not been possible to per-
ceive action, trace, or the slighteest cause® from which

it might be inferred that the apostates were not de-
voted "to blind idolatry, giving worship to the devil,
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and living accordinﬁ to and in the same manner as in
their vaganism." [4] On the other hand, they were
found to be go completely dominated by the devil that
they had been willing tc sacrifice zll the conveniences
of a settled and semi-civilized people, and in despera-
tlon had deserted thelr homes and fled to the mountains,
If up to that time, after fourteen daye of snowing, the
Indians, with no more shelter than some poor hides with
whlch they cover themselves and thelr weeping women and
ehlldren, were still obstinate, 1t wae Ayets's opinion
that they were determined to dle rether than yleld to
the Spanlards. Fifth and lest, the zpostates had not
been influenced by the good treatment accorded the
Isleta Indlians whom Ctermin had guickly defeated and
prrotected, and moat of whom came out ef New Mexleo on
the final retreat , for 1t could nct be denled that
they were aware of the extreme mercy and clemency with
which ?15 lordshlp had pardoned all those of Isleta.

- - 05

Thus ended the Spanish occupation of New Mexlco and the
work of the Spanish miseione until the next decade. If
there were any doubt concerning the Indians' attitude toward
their conquerors, or the nature of theilr "Chrigtianity,®

then the events of 1680-1681 can dquickly end them.
After 1692: Coexistence

During 1691 some preliminary movements were made, includ-
ing warfere conducted against a number of the southern
tribees, toward the reconquest of New Mexlco. But not until
May of 1692 4id permiseion come from the vieeroy to the gov-
ernor at E1 Paso and second congueror of the other Mexleo,

Dlegé de Vargas.

513ummary by Hackett of "Opinien of Fray Frenclaco de
Ayeta. Haclenda of Luis de Carbajal, December 23, 1681 (1I,
305-318) ,* ibid., VIII, olxxxil-iii,
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The flrst expedition saw many near-battles, but no
blood waes shed, and through Varges' diplomacy and the fri-
ars' exhortations twenty-three pueblos were visited peace-
fully, seventy-four ceptives freed, and 2,214 Indlans were
baptized. When Vargas returned to £l Paso there seemed to
be good reason for optimism,

But the constantly unpredictable Pueblos changed their
minds by 1693 when the second expedition came, and a fight
wag necegsary to teke Santa Fe. After seventy Indlian lead-
ers had been executed, the Spanish had another revolt on
theilr hands. Thie time the rebellion was not as general or
wldespread, but it took many monthe to bring any sizable
number of pueblos into submission. Eleven months after
Vargas arrived sll but Picurié, Tacs, Acoma, Zufl, and Moqui
pueblos were under Speln--permenently. Settlers arrived
again, and the old rancherfis and missions were reestab-
lished. By 1695 eleven misslons were in operation. ‘

At least one more uprising took place, in 1696 (the
Teguas chiefly), in which five missionaries and tweniy-one
Spanlard settlers were killed, and some churches agein
desecrated. The Indlans were quickly forced to sue for

peace after this, and no serious outbreasks occurred agaln.52

52Manuel Espinosa, editor and translator, Ihe First
Expedition of Vargas into New Mexiﬁo 1692 (Albuquerque:
University of New Mexico Preess, 19 05. This is a summary
of several points of Espinosa's introduction.
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After the various pueblo tribes of New Mexico had
finally been forced into submission, there seemed to develop
among them e pattern of 1living, in which they accepted what
they had to of Spanish culture and religlon, but inwvardly
resented 1t. Thus the end result of 150 snd more years of
Franeiscan mission work was nothing more than a coexistence
of pegan and Catholic religlon.

An idea of the state of the Indianeg' Christianity can
be had from sn account of Fray Francisco Atanasio Dominguez,
written in 1776. "Fven at the end of so many years since
their reconquest, the speclous title or name of neophyte lis
8till applied to them," he says. Their valuing of such
things as their Christian names is such that they never men-
tion it among themselves, but a2lways used their traditional
tribal snd vagan names. Many do not even know their saints'
names; and if & friar calls one of them by his Christian
name "they usually have their joke among themselves, repeat-
ing the saint's name to each other as if in ridicule."53

Ag far as Christisn acts of devotion are concerned, the
Indlans have nothing but a repugnance and a reslstance to
all kinds. If they on occasion "invoke God end His saints
or pray or pay for Masses, it is in 2 confused manner," or

just to comply with what they are taught. In the case of

53Fray Francisco Atanasio Dominguez, The lisslons of
New Mexico, 1776 (Albuguerque: University of New HMexieco
Press, 1953), pp. 254f.
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paying for a mass, Af the priest asks them in simple terms

what their intention is,

they reply: You know, thet saint what more good, more
big, him you make Mags. I not know, maybe him Virgin,
naybe St. Anthony, ete., not to weary ourselves by
more. And the father apnlies it with a good direct in-
tention, a@s he knows that he must do.5

Dominguez says that confession is not mede annually.
And the fathers seem rarely to find anyone who can make a
proper confession. Also there 1s '"rarely anyone capable of
receiving communion." Only when in danger of dyling do they
confess, and this 1s through interpreters, since few of the
pueblos knew Spanlsh.55

Algo described is one of theilr favorite practices, a
dance which was done when they have scalped one of thelr
pagan enemies, an obscene sort of celebration. A&t one point
in the dance and procession, the entire group throws the
scalp away, as if discarding it, and enters the church.
They remein about the length of three Credos. Then they go
back outside, and continue the festivities, with the scalp.

the fathers sre unazble to ebolish this custom and many

others, because excuses are immediately made on the

ground that (the Indians) are neophytes, mlnors, ete.

Under such pretexts they will slways Dbe neophytes and

minors with the result that our Holy Falth will got
take root and their malice will increase. . . .5

54%1p1a., p. 255.
551bid., pp. 255f.
561b1d.. pp. 257f.
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Dominguez alpo tells how the Indians are unwilling to
glve charlty or lodging to a Spaniard; 1f they gee one, they
hide; and 1f he happens to be a friar, "they are as terrified
28 1f they were to see Lucifer himself and they would like
to make themselves invisible." And as far as worship or

study is concernsd:

it 1s necessary for the flscales to order them to come
to Maes or catechism by the town crier's voice. And if
there 1s no such summons, the bell may break {(with
ringing for all the esttention they pay to 1t). On
their way to church, whether they be old or young, they
go mincing along one by one, but when they leave, first
comes first, because they fall over one another like
sheep leaving the corral for pasture.57

Almost 175 years had passed gsince the Spanish first came
to New Mexico, and thie was the extent of the Christianity
of the Indians. It was a sad situation, but in view of the

cheotic history of that century and three-quarters, hardly

surprislng.

571bid., pp. 258f.




CHAPTER V
THE CALIFORNIA MISSIONS

Upper California, 1769: The Last Extension

of New Spailn

Two hundred and fifty years after Spaniards had first
8et foot on the shores of what is now the United States the
last venture of colonization was begun. During the first
years hopes had been high as many adventurers, soldlers,

and conquistadores envisioned a wealthy new land, similar

to those conquered farther south in the hemisphere. But

two and a half long centuries of bltter lebor--snd vast ex-
pense--had given Spain a considerably more realistic and
mature view than she had hed in those early days. When the
first ships and overland expedltions set out for San Diege
and Monterey in 1769 everyone knew that their purpose was to
occupy the lorthwest country for Spain, and prevent foreign
intrusion. By this time even the letters and documents from
the government to the colonists were falrly honest and did
not elaim that the chief or only purpoee of the enterprise
was the conversion of the local natives. Fray Engelhardt
quotes a letter from the Viceroy to an officer of the first
expedition, which, after directing that five missions be
founded, says:

"Then, as soon as possible, you will by land and by
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Bea, examine the port of San Franclsco, situsted much
to the north of Monterey. You will nlace yourself in
accord with the Fr. Presidents of the missions to the
end that a mission may be established there, so that
the saild important locality may not be exposed to
forelgn occupation. "l

Chapman a2lso quotes a letter from a Viceroy of a few
Years later in which he more plainly states Spailn's purpose
and also points to the forelign power which posed the threat.

"I deem 1% well that sny establishment of the Russians
in thils continent or of any other forelgn power ought
To be guarded against . . . not that the king needs any
extension of territory, when there 1s much more in his
own dominions than can be settled for centuries, but
rather to avold the consequences which would follow
from having other neighbors than the Indians."?

The religlous did have a place in the whole scheme, and
1% was at least as important a place as is indicated in a
letter of 1774 to the Viceroy:

"But as the preparations against them [the Russians]
serve many other purposes, esveclially in that they con-
duce to missionary work and the extenslion of the gos-
pel,--the more land we gain by discoveries,--I1 am very
well satisfied with all that hae been done, for in this
manner, by sea and land, we may proceed with our con-
quests to one place after another. "3

1Fray Zephyrin Engelhardt, The Missions and Mleslon-

sries of California (Santa Barbara, Calif.: Mission Santa
Barbara, 1930), pp. 107f. This is from a letter, Viceroy

De Croix to Fages, November 12, 1770.

ZCharles E. Chapman, A History of California: The
Spanish Period (New York: The Maemillan Co., 1930), p. 272,
Viceroy Bucarell to Arriaga, July 27, 1773.

31bid., Arrisga to Bucareli, January 24, 1774,
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Colonization beging

Under the general commsnd of José de Galvez the two sea
and two land parties left Baja Celifornie during the first
part of 1769. The packet Sen Carlos sailed from La Paz on

the tenth of January and the San Antonie from San Bernabé on

the fifteenth of February. The two land expeditions made
thelir long and difficult trips to the chosen meeting place
of San Diego Bay shortly after, the first perty arriving on
lay 13 and the second on June 29, The hardship of travel
can be seen when 1t 1s considered that the entire number on
both ships were afflicted with scurvy and barely able teo
exist as they waited for the land parties; the latter ar-
rived zlso depleted in number from a total of 219 down %o
119 through desertion, sickness, and death. Fray Crespl,
traveling with the Tirst expedition, writes that of the
fifty-one Christian Indians who started, many became sick,
five he buried, and "almost all the rest sbsconded on the
road.."4

¥%With such conditions p